2010
ANNUAL REPORT

YONGMAO
01
02
03
04
08
10
12
16
17
27
30
31
32
33
34
35
37
87
89
92

About Yongmao
Our Products & Manufacturing Facilities
Financial Highlights
Chairman’s Statement
Operations Review
Global Footprints
Board of Directors
Executive Officers
Corporate Governance Report
DIrectors’ Report
Statement by Directors
Independent Auditor’s Report
Statements of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to the Financial Statements
Statistics of Shareholdings
Notice of Annual General Meeting
Appendix
Proxy Form
Corporate Information

About
Yongmao

Yongmao Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010

     01

Towercranes
Designed and Built In China
Used Around The World
Since 1992, our Group has been involved in designing and manufacturing a wide range of towercranes,
components and accessories. Sold mainly to construction equipment distributors and equipment rental
companies in overseas markets and to construction companies and equipment rental companies in the PRC,
our towercranes are also exported to over 70 countries and areas around the world.  Our towercranes have
been used in many prominent projects in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and overseas. Our brand
name “Yongmao” was recognised as a “Chinese Well-Known Brand”
in the PRC.
We have the capability to design and manufacture a wide range of towercranes which are used mainly in
construction sites to lift building materials and equipment.  We currently offer a variety of towercranes with
lifting capacities in the range of 80 to 1200 tonne metres and which are broadly classified under the Topless
STT series, the ST series, the Luffing STL series and the Derrick Q series.
Our research and development capabilities have enhanced our ability to compete effectively in our industry.  
Since we commenced manufacturing of towercranes, our research and development team has successfully
developed approximately 60 models and sub-models of towercranes. This has not only broadened our
product range but also helped us to remain competitive.
We have strong brand recognition and an established track record.  In the PRC, our towercranes
are used in many important and prominent projects such as the construction of the China
National Opera House in Beijing, the Qinshan Nuclear Power Station, the new terminal for
Beijing International Airport, the Shanghai South Railway Station, the Changjiang River Bridge,
the Fujian LNG Project and many key buildings in the Beijing Olympics Village
and Sports Hub as well as many landmarks in Expo 2010 Shanghai
China.  In the overseas markets, our towercranes are used in significant
projects such as the Imperial Wharf and 22 Marsh Wall (The Landmark)
projects in London, UK, the City of Dreams casino project in Macau
and AZ – St. Jan General Hospital in Brugge, Belgium, and GCUH
– Gold Coast University Hospital, Australia.
We have a high level of expertise and experience required for design
and development of towercranes, a strong track record and a
wide customer base. We have also achieved various safety
standards prescribed for cranes by different countries and
various certifications required to be obtained before cranes
can be exported to these countries.
   

Our Products &
Manufacturing Facilities
Manufacturing facility and process
Our production facilities are located in the PRC, namely Fushun City, Liaoning
Province, Beijing City and Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province.  With a stringent quality
assurance system in place, we are generally able to deliver a towercrane within
30 to 90 days.
Products
Our products are used mainly in construction sites, infrastructure projects
and in the shipbuilding industry. Our towercranes are broadly classified into 4
series as follows:

ST
The ST towercranes are suitable for use in construction
sites of all sizes.  Introduced in 2000, the ST towercranes
feature a conventional structural design where the tower
head and tie bar reduces stress on the jib.

Topless STT
First introduced in 1999, the Topless STT’s design
features a streamlined jib design and no tower head,
which minimizes space to allow jib overflight of adjourning
towercranes in a worksite.  This makes the Topless STT
towercranes particularly suitable for worksites with space
constraints.   The Topless STT towercranes are also
designed to erect and dismantle quickly to save time
which results in cost savings.

Derrick Q
A towercrane under the Derrick Q series was successfully
developed in 1998.   The Derrick Q towercranes are
designed for dismantling internal climbing towercranes
in a safe and reliable manner.  They are installed on the
completed roof-tops of buildings and can be assembled
and dismantled by hand.

Luffing STL
First sold in 2004, the Luffing STL towercranes offer a small
slewing working radius due to a variable jib angle.  This
feature makes the Luffing STL towercranes particularly
suitable for use in worksites that are surrounded by
existing tall buildings or where jibs are not allowed to sail
over existing buildings.
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Chairman’s Statement
Dear Shareholders

The past year in review was a year of challenges. Our
operating environment presented contrasting scenarios,
with the world economy going through a roller-coaster
ride in the first half of the year, followed by a slow and
uncertain recovery in the second half of the year.  
At Yongmao Holdings Limited, we were not immune to
these fluctuations in our operating environment. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (“FY2010”),
Group revenue decreased by 22.4% to RMB 461.2 million
as compared to the previous corresponding period
(“FY2009”). Gross profit decreased 28.1% to RMB 130.0
million. However, a silver lining appeared when business
expanded strongly in the Fourth Quarter of FY2010 (“Q4
FY2010”). During this last quarter, revenue increased by
127.2% to RMB 157.9 million, from RMB 69.5 million a
year ago (“Q4 FY2009”).

In FY2010, Group revenue was impacted by lower export
sales due to weak demand from overseas markets.
Exports to the USA, Europe, the Middle East and Asian
markets outside of China (the People’s Republic of China
or the “PRC”) fell by 74.3% compared to the previous
year. Nonetheless, weak sales in overseas markets were
partially offset by brisk business in the PRC, where
revenue increased 59.7% compared with FY2009.
With our greater focus on the domestic market, total
operating expenses were reduced by 8.7% year-onyear to RMB 115.6 million in FY2010. Along with lower
export sales, distribution costs decreased to RMB 47.5
million in FY2010 as freight and transportation costs
and sales commission were reduced. In addition, other
operating expenses decreased by RMB 3.9 million in
FY2010 primarily due to lower foreign exchange losses
resulting from fewer exports.
Meanwhile, administrative expenses increased to RMB
59.4 million in FY2010 basically due to the inclusion
of administrative expenses of the new subsidiaries,
Beijing Yongmao and Wuxi Yongmao. The increase was
also attributed to payment of a land use rights tax of
RMB 3.0 million, which was assessed in FY2010 for the
period from January 2008 to December 2009 in relation
to a new factory currently under construction.
To reward our shareholders, the Group has proposed a
dividend of 0.25 Singapore cent per share for approval
at the upcoming Annual General Meeting.
Focusing on the domestic market
To capitalise on robust growth in the domestic PRC
market, the Group focused its marketing on domestic
sales over the year. As such, domestic customers’
contribution to FY2010 revenue rose from RMB 230.2
million in FY2009 to RMB 367.5 million, accounting for
79.7% of FY2010 revenue. This is up from a 38.7%
contribution recorded in FY2009.
The benefits of this focus are most significant in its results
for Q4 FY2010. Year-on-year revenue growth of 127.2%
in this quarter was driven by a 156.9% improvement in
domestic sales. In Q4 FY2010, the Group also benefited
from lower steel material prices and lower costs per unit
as a result of higher production volume. This has also
led to average gross profit margin growth from 8.5% in
Q4 FY2009 to 32.7% in Q4 FY2010.

MR SUN ZHAO LIN
Executive Chairman
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During the year in review, we completed and established
two towercrane rental joint venture companies, Beijing
Tat Hong Zhaomao Equipment Rental Co., Ltd (“BJTH”)
in April 2009 and Si Chuan Tat Hong Yuan Zheng
Machinery Construction Co., Ltd (“SCTH”) in January
2010. Yongmao directly owns 45% of BJTH and,
indirectly through BJTH, 20.25% of SCTH.
These joint-ventures will enable the Group to diversify its
income stream through the domestic towercrane rental
business as well as better position us for increased
sales of towercranes in the domestic PRC market. With
the establishment of SCTH, we will be able to expand
into Southern and Southwestern China, increasing our
market presence in these growing regions.
In FY2010, the profit contribution from these associated
companies amounted to RMB 2.9 million.
Focusing on our Assets
During the economic crisis, many companies resorted
to retrenchment and salary adjustments in order to
trim costs. However, we believe that employees are
our greatest assets and none of these measures were
implemented. On the contrary, we took this opportunity
to upgrade our employees’ skills through professional
talks and seminars, improving operational efficiency
through use of Office Automation and Enterprise
Resource Planning software.
Not only do these human resource development
efforts serve as opportunities to acquire and
enhance skills and prepare us for the future,
they also boost the morale of our workers,
especially in the midst of an uncertain
operating environment.
In 2008, the Group commenced
construction of a new manufacturing
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facility located at Fushun Machinery Manufacturing
Park, Qiandian Town, Shuncheng District, Fushun
City, Liaoning Province, the PRC
.  
Civil works for the new facility have been substantially
completed and the installation of plant and machinery
is currently ongoing.  The new manufacturing facility is
expected to be completed and to commence operations
in stages by the second half of 2010.  As at 31 March
2010, RMB 177.0 million of construction in progress has
been incurred.
Focusing on Research and Development
Our research and development capabilities have
enhanced our ability to compete effectively in our
industry. Since our establishment, our research and
development team has successfully developed more
than 60 towercrane models and applied for more than
20 patents. Not only has this broadened our product
range, it has also helped us remain competitive and on
the cutting-edge.

Chairman’s Statement
We have a high level of expertise and experience required
for design and development of towercranes, a strong
track record and a broad customer base. In addition, we
adhere to the towercrane safety standards prescribed
by the different countries we market to, as well as preexport manufacturer certifications.
At the same time, we continue to improve operational
efficiencies in our research and development efforts
through collaborations with top schools in recruitment
and establishment of research facilities. During
the financial year, we partnered Harbin Institute of
Technology
to establish a research
centre, proactively attracting graduates from renowned
colleges to join our product development team and
providing upgrading courses for our engineers. Harbin
Institute of Technology is one of the top universities in
China with an engineering school that consistently ranks
among the country’s best.
Outlook in FY2011
The continued growth in the Chinese economy has
brought about a more favourable outlook for the
Group. With the country expected to maintain growth in
FY2011, sales in the PRC are projected to continue to be
a significant portion of Group turnover.
On the export front, the Group expects the business
environment in our principal export markets to remain
challenging, especially with the ongoing sovereign debt
crisis in Europe clouding the outlook for our European
exports. This is likely to continue to affect our export
sales to Europe for the coming financial year.

Domestically, our Group’s marketing efforts within the
PRC is reaping results as our products continue to gain
market acceptance and market share. To tap these
growing opportunities, the Group is channelling its
resources to the PRC domestic market, participating in
various infrastructure projects including the development
of road and railway transportation networks, nuclear
power plants, shipyards and residential projects.
In June 2010, the Group announced the set up of a 25%owned joint venture investment company with Tat Hong
Holdings Ltd in the PRC. Together with the establishment
of associate joint-venture companies BJTH and SCTH,
the Group’s entry into the towercrane rental business in
the PRC is expected to feature more prominently in the
coming financial year.  
While the road ahead will remain challenging, we are
committed to helping our customers and shareholders
navigate through the headwinds. Leveraging on our
business model, we believe we have the strategies and
resilience to generate long-term growth.
Acknowledgements
At this juncture, on behalf of the Board of Directors, I
would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to the
directors, management team and employees at Yongmao
for their dedication and contributions.
I would also like to thank our valued customers and
business associates for their unwavering support in
FY2010.  Last but not least, I would like to extend our
sincere appreciation to our shareholders for their trust
and commitment. Your support has given us added
impetus, and we will strive to reward your faith in us.
Yours Sincerely,

MR SUN ZHAO LIN
Executive Chairman
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Operations Review
Yongmao Holdings Limited (“Yongmao”) achieved
net profit attributable to equity holders of RMB 17.1
million on revenue of RMB 461.2 million in FY2010.
This represented a decline of 64% year-on-year from
net profit of RMB 47.5 million in FY2009. The decrease
was mainly due to lower revenue from a weak global
economy as well as lower profit margins.
Group revenue decreased 22.4% to RMB 461.2 million
in FY2010 as compared to RMB 594.5 million in FY2009,
mainly due to lower export sales resulting from weak
demand for our products in the USA, Europe, Middle East
and Asia (excluding the PRC) markets. Nevertheless,
the decline in export revenue was mitigated by an
improvement in the PRC sales as the Group focused its
marketing efforts on the domestic PRC market.
Overall, domestic PRC sales’ contribution to Group
revenue increased almost two-fold to RMB 367.5 million
in FY2010.   Domestic PRC sales formed 79.7% of
revenue in FY2010, up from 38.7% in FY2009.

Gross profit reduced to RMB 130.0 million in FY2010
from RMB 180.9 million in FY2009. The decline was due
to lower sales.
Average gross profit margin decreased to 28.2% in
FY2010 from 30.4% in FY2009. This decrease was
mainly due to higher sales of the lower margin ST series
towercranes in the PRC. The average selling price of
towercranes was also lower due to price competition in
our key markets.
Profit before tax decreased by RMB 31.0 million to RMB
25.7 million in FY2010 mainly due to lower revenue and
gross profit margin.
New Opportunities
In line with our diversification into the towercrane rental
business, we established BJTH, a 45%-owned joint
venture between our Group and Tat Hong Holdings Ltd
(“Tat Hong”). BJTH was incorporated in April 2009.   
The Group made further forays in PRC’s growing
towercrane rental business with the establishment of a
second sino-foreign equity joint venture with Tat Hong
and Mr Yuan Zheng, founder and major shareholder of
Guangzhou Hailin Resource Co., Ltd (“Guangzhou Hailin”),
a prominent towercrane rental company in the PRC.
Yongmao invested RMB 28.35 million through BJTH
for an effective 20.25% ownership of the joint-venture
company, SCTH.
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We believe that with these new ventures, we will be
able to tap into the lucrative towercrane rental business
and increase our sales of towercranes to customers,
especially in Southern and Southwestern China where
SCTH has a leading market presence. In FY2010,
the profit contribution from these newly established
associated companies amounted to RMB 2.9 million.
Strong Fundamentals
Yongmao has built a strong brand name synonymous
with product quality and service excellence. We were
one of the first Chinese towercrane manufacturers
to attain the European “CE” marking and also one of
the first to enter the USA market. The Group has also
received various quality certifications, including the ISO
9001:2000 Quality Management System Certificate.
In March 2010, our brand name “Yongmao” was
recognised as a “Chinese Well-Known Brand”
by the National Industry and Commerce Bureau
in the PRC in recognition of our
quality products and services. We believe we are the
only company in the towercrane industry to receive such
an honour in the PRC.
Yongmao’s philosophy has always been centered on
innovation. With a strong research and development
team comprising designers and engineers, the Group
constantly seeks to develop new products to cater
to market dynamics. This has enabled the Group to
become one of the top three players in the PRC’s high
tonnage towercrane market providing a wide variety of
towercranes with lifting capabilities ranging from 80 to
1200 tonne metres. Our cranes are broadly classified
under the Topless STT series, the Top Kit ST series, the
Luffing STL series and the Derrick Q series.
In FY2010, we completed research on our new towercrane
models, ST80/116 and STL720. The ST80/116 has also

been successfully commissioned in our customer, STX’s
Dalian shipyard. We believe that continuous innovation
will enhance our ability to compete effectively in our
industry.
At Yongmao, we recognise that our competitiveness lies
ultimately in the quality of our workforce. As such, over
the year, management organised seminars and talks on
PRC towercrane construction standards to assist the
research and development team in keeping abreast with
the latest developments. This will in turn increase the
overall quality of our products.
Looking Ahead
In conclusion, despite the financial and economic crisis
and its after-effects impinging on global export markets,
prospects of the PRC towercrane market remain
positive.
Internationally, the Group expects business in our
principal export markets to remain challenging going
forward, especially with the overhanging European
sovereign debt crisis clouding the outlook for that
region. As such, we anticipate slow European export
sales in the coming financial year.
Domestically, our Group’s marketing efforts within the
PRC is showing results, as our products gain market
acceptance and market share. To tap this opportunity,
the Group is channelling its resources to the PRC
domestic market, participating in various infrastructure
projects including the development of road and railway
transportation networks, nuclear power plants, shipyards
and residential projects.
Construction of the new manufacturing facility is nearing
completion and we will be able to commence operations
in stages in the second half of 2010.  This will improve
the Group’s capacity and operational efficiency.
The towercrane rental business in the PRC will continue
to contribute to the bottomline and is expected to feature
more prominently in the coming financial year.
We will continue to monitor the economic situation and
refine our strategy in our various markets accordingly,
in order to achieve higher value for our customers and
shareholders.
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Global Footprints
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Board of Directors
MR SUN ZHAO LIN
Executive Chairman
is our Executive Chairman. He is the founder of our Group
and was appointed to our Board on 3 August 2005. Mr Sun
is responsible for the formulation and execution of overall
business strategy and policies and future direction as well
as the overall management of our Group. He has more than
10 years’ experience in the crane manufacturing industry. He
started his career as a sales representative at Fushun No.4
Chemical Plant
. Mr Sun graduated from
Liaoning Correspondence Party School
in 1998
having majored in Economics. In 2005, he was awarded the
Professional Certificate of Specialty and Technology (Senior
Engineer)
) from the Liaoning
Provincial Personnel Department
. In 2005,
he received the Liaoning Province Outstanding Business
Entrepreneur award
from the Liaoning
Province Small-Medium Enterprise Association
. In 2006, Mr Sun received the “Model Labour
Award for Year 2005”
and the “Liaoning
Province Model Labour Award” from Shuncheng District
People’s Government
and Liaoning Province
People’s Government
respectively.
Mr Sun is currently a committee member of the Liaoning
Province Political Association
.

MS TIAN RUO NAN
Chief Executive Officer
is our Chief Executive Officer. She is a co-founder of our
Group and was appointed to our Board on 28 December
2007. Ms Tian is responsible for and oversees the day-today management of our Group. She has more than 10 years’
experience in the crane manufacturing industry. Ms Tian
started her career as a laboratory technician at Fushun No.4
Chemical Plant
in December 1977. Ms
Tian graduated from Dongbei Normal University
in 1999 having majored in Economics. She received the
“Model Worker”
award for 2004 and 2005 from
Shuncheng District People’s Government
and the “Fushun Foreign Investment Enterprise Outstanding
Business Entrepreneur” award for 2006 and 2008 from Fushun
Municipal People’s Government
.   In 2008,
she was awarded the “Bohai Region Outstanding Woman
Entrepreneur Award”
by Liaoning
Province Women’s Federation
.  In 2009, she was
also awarded the “Top 10 Most Outstanding Woman Award”
by Fushun Municipal Women’s Federation
. In 2010, she was awarded the Woman’s
Award Winner
by Liaoning Provincial Women’s
Federation
and “The Heroine”
award
by Liaoning Provincial Trade Union
.
Ms Tian is currently a representative of the 14th People’s
Congress of Fushun City
.
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MR NG SAN TIONG
Deputy Chairman and Non-Executive Director
is our Deputy Chairman and Non-Executive Director
and was appointed to our Board on 28 June 2007.  Mr
Ng is vastly experienced in corporate management,
business development, potential acquisitions in the
region as well as policy and strategy formulation.  He
has more than 25 years of experience in the heavy
equipment and plant hiring business.
Mr Ng is also the President/Group CEO of Tat Hong
Holdings Ltd, one of the world’s largest crawler crane
rental company. He also seats on the Board of several
listed companies in Singapore and Australia. Mr Ng
was awarded the “Businessman of the Year 2007” and
“Best CEO 2009”.
Mr Ng holds a Bachelor of Science (Honours) Degree
from the University of Technology Loughborough
(United Kingdom).

MR SUN TIAN
Executive Director
was appointed as a Non-Executive Director to our Board
on 31 December 2005.  Subsequently in August 2009,
he joined the Group as a Sales Manager responsible
for the Group’s business development and sales to
customers outside the PRC. Consequently, Mr Sun
Tian changes his status from Non-Executive Director to
Executive Director of the Company.
He graduated with a Diploma in Mechantronic
Engineering from Ngee Ann Polytechnic in 2006. He
was awarded the Motorola Silver Medal for being the
second most outstanding graduate in the Diploma
in Mechantronic Engineering course by Ngee Ann
Polytechnic.
In July 2009, he graduated from National University
of Singapore with a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical
Engineering.
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Board of Directors
MR CHUA KEE LOCK
Lead Independent Director
is our Lead Independent Director and was appointed
to our Board on 28 December 2007. He is currently
the Group President and CEO of Vertex Venture
Holdings Ltd.   Prior to that, from 2006 to 2008, Mr
Chua was the President and Executive Director of
Biosensors International Group, Ltd., a developer and
manufacturer of medical devices used in interventional
cardiology and critical care procedures. His other
senior executive positions included Managing Director
of Walden International Singapore from 2003 to 2006;
Deputy President of NatSteel Ltd. from 2001 to 2003
and President & CEO of Intraco Ltd., a Singapore-listed
trading and distribution company, from 2000 to 2001.  
Before joining Intraco Ltd., he was Co-Founder and
President of MediaRing.com Ltd., a Singapore-listed
company providing voice-over-Internet services, from
1998 to 2000. Mr Chua holds a Bachelor of Science
in Mechanical Engineering from the University of
Wisconsin, U.S. and a Masters of Science in Engineering
from Stanford University, U.S..

MR HO CHEW THIM
Independent Director
is one of our Independent Directors and was appointed
to our Board on 28 December 2007. He is an accountant
by vocation. His career in financial management
spanned over 33 years and he has held senior financial
positions in mainly listed companies and banks.  These
includes China Water Holdings Pte Ltd (an associate of
SGX-listed CNA Group Ltd), CNA Group Ltd, Achieva
Limited, China World Trade Centre Ltd (an associate of
Shangri-La Asia Limited), Poh Tiong Choon Logistics
Limited, China-Singapore Suzhou Industrial Park
Development Co Ltd, Development Bank of Singapore,
Deutsche Bank (Singapore Branch), L & M Group
Investments Ltd, United Industrial Corporation Limited
and United Overseas Bank Limited. He is also an
Independent Director on the Board of several public
listed companies in Singapore.
Mr Ho is a Fellow Member of the Institute of Certified
Public Accountants of Singapore and CPA Australia. He
graduated with a Bachelor of Accountancy (First Class
Honours) degree from University of Singapore in 1976.
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MR STEVE LAI MUN FOOK
Independent Director
is one of our Independent Directors and was appointed
to our Board on 28 December 2007. He is currently the
Chief Executive Officer of PSB Academy Pte Ltd. Dr Lai
was previously the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of
TUV SUD PSB Corporation and PSB Corporation Pte
Ltd from April 2006 to March 2007 and from April 2001
to March 2006, respectively. From April 1996 to March
1998, Dr Lai was the General Manager (Standards &
Technology) of Singapore Productivity & Standards
Board. Dr Lai holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) in
Industrial Chemistry and a PhD from the Loughborough
University of Technology, United Kingdom.  He is also
a Director on several private companies in Singapore
and Malaysia.

MR HOON CHEE WAI
Non-Executive Director
is our Non-Executive Director and was appointed to
our Board on 9 February 2009.   Mr Hoon is currently
a Director, Corporate Client Solutions, of CIMB Bank
Berhad, Singapore Branch.    Mr Hoon has been
involved in the corporate finance and investment
banking business with several financial institutions in
Singapore since 1994. Over the years, he has been
directly involved in many banking and corporate finance
transactions in Singapore involving enterprises from the
Peoples’ Republic of China. Mr Hoon graduated from
the Nanyang Technological University with a Bachelor
of Accountancy in 1992.
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Executive
Officers
MR YAP SOON YONG is our Financial Controller and is
responsible for the financial and accounting functions of
our Group. His responsibilities include overseeing matters
relating to financial administration and the compliance
and reporting obligations of our Group. Mr Yap joined
our Group in July 2007. Prior to joining our Group, he
was the Chief Financial Officer of China Marine Foods
Group Pte Ltd from September 2006 to June 2007. From
April 2005 to June 2006, he was with Oceanus Bio-tech
Holdings Pte Ltd. From May 1996 to April 2005, Mr Yap
was with York Transport Equipment (Asia) Pte Ltd where
he started as a senior accountant and last held the post
of financial controller. From 1992 to 1996, Mr Yap was
with Ernst & Young where he last held the position as
Audit Senior. Mr Yap obtained a bachelor’s degree in  
accountancy from the Nanyang Technological University
in 1992, and is currently a member of the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.
MS LI TAO is our Sales and Marketing Manager and is
responsible for the sales and marketing operations of
our Group. Ms Li joined our Group in July 1997. Prior to
joining our Group, Ms Li was an English interpreter and
subsequently an export manager of Fushun Excavator
Works, Import & Export Co., Ltd
from 1983 to mid-1997. Ms Li graduated from
Shenyang Normal College (Fushun Branch)
in 1983 and Shenyang Normal University
(then known as Liaoning Educational
Institute
in 1996, having majored in
English.
MR LIU XIAO MING is our Production and Quality   
Control Manager and is responsible for our Group’s   
production process and production plans. Mr Liu joined
our Group in August 2006. He was the head of
the production department of Fushun Excavator
Manufacturing Co., Ltd
and was the head of the sales department of Fushun
Hydraulic Manufacturing Works
from December 2002 to August 2006 and from
June 1999 to November 2002, respectively. Mr Liu was
in charge of the production department of Beijing Juli
Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd
from August 1998 to May 1999. From July 1996 to July
1998, Mr Liu was in charge of the technology department
of Fushun Hydraulic Manufacturing Works
and prior to that, he was a technician of
Fushun Excavator Manufacturing Works
. Mr Liu graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering
from Northeast Heavy Machinery College
in 1994.

MR TIAN CHENG TIAN is our Purchasing Manager and
is responsible for the sourcing of and purchase of raw
materials for our manufacturing operations. He joined
our Group since April 2001. Prior to this, Mr Tian was
an engineer of Fushun Civil Designing Institute
from February 1994 to April 2004.  From
September 1979 to February 1994, he was a technician
at Fushun Coal Mine Safety Instrument Plant
. Mr Tian graduated from Liaoning
Radio and Television University
in 1992
having majored in Electric Automation. In 2005, he
was awarded the Professional Certificate of Specialty
and Technology (Senior Engineer)
from the Liaoning Provincial Personnel
Department
.
MR LOU JI QIANG is our Administrative & Project  
Manager. His responsibilities include the design,
development, implementation and maintenance of all
human resources initiatives and to manage the administrative
functions of our Group.  He currently also oversees the
construction of the second manufacturing facility, at
Fushun Machinery Manufacturing Park in Fushun City,
Liaoning Province, PRC. He joined our Group since
October 2001. Mr Lou started as an administrative            
supervisor in our Group and rose to his current position.
From March 1997 to October 2001, he was in charge of
the personnel department of Fushun Hongyu Industries
Group
. Prior to that, he worked as a
production worker in Fushun Excavator Manufacturing Works
. Mr Lou graduated from Liaoning
University
in 1992 having majored in Chinese
Language and Literature.
MR YU HAO BO is our Finance Manager and is
responsible for the financial and accounting functions
of Fushun Yongmao Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.
Mr Yu joined our Group in August 2005. Mr Yu started
his career as a projects manager at Fushun Zhongtian
Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd
from July 1996 to July 2005. Mr Yu
graduated with a degree in Management from Bohai
University
in 2006.
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Yongmao Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed to setting in place
corporate governance practices to provide the structure through which the objectives of protection of shareholders’
interests and enhancement of long term shareholders’ value are met.
This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices with specific reference made to the principles and
guidelines as set out in the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”).

BOARD MATTERS
Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of Affairs
The Board’s primary role is to protect and enhance long-term shareholders’ value. It strives to achieve this by providing
the leadership and guidance to Management to develop and drive business directions and goals.
The principal functions of the Board, apart from its statutory responsibilities, are to:
z

Provide entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic aims, and ensure that the necessary financial and human
resources are in place for the Company to meet its objectives;

z

Establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed;

z

Review management performance;

z

Review financial performance of the Group;

z

Approve major investment and funding decisions; and

z

Set the Company’s values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and others are understood
and met.

The Board of Directors are free to request for further clarification and information from management on all matters within
their purview. The Board will conduct at least four meetings a year. Ad-hoc meetings will be convened, when required.
The Company’s Articles of Association provide for the Board to conduct meetings via teleconferencing and other
electronic means.
In order to provide an independent oversight and to discharge its responsibilities more efficiently, the Board has delegated
certain functions to various Committees. The Board Committees consist of the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee
and Remuneration Committee. These Committees operate under clearly defined terms of reference. The Chairman of the
respective Committees will report to the Board on the outcome of the Committee meetings and their recommendations
on the specific agendas mandated to the Committee by the Board.
Matters which specifically require Board approval are those involving material acquisitions and disposals of assets,
corporate or financial restructuring, shareholder matters, share issuances, dividends, and other returns to shareholders.
The attendance of the Directors and the various Committees’ meetings held in connection with the financial year ended
31 March 2010 are as follows:
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Attendance at meetings

No. of meetings held
Name
Sun Zhao Lin
Tian Ruo Nan
Ng San Tiong
Sun Tian
Hoon Chee Wai
Chua Kee Lock
Ho Chew Thim
Steve Lai Mun Fook
*

Board Committees
Audit
Nominating
Committee
Committee
4
1
No. of meetings attended
1*
2*
1*
2*
1*
4*
1*
3*
1*
4
1
4
1
3
–

Board
4
1
3
3
4
3
4
4
3

Remuneration
Committee
1
–
1*
1*
1*
1*
1
1
–

By invitation

Details of the directors’ profile can be found on Pages 12 to 15.
Newly appointed Directors will be briefed on the Group’s business and Corporate Governance policies. Familiarisation
visits, including overseas offices, would be organised, if necessary, to facilitate a better understanding of the Group’s
business operations. Arrangements will be made for our newly appointed Directors who do not have the prior experience
as directors of public listed companies in Singapore to attend course(s) such as those organised by the Singapore
Institute of Directors.
Directors will also be receiving regular updates on changes in the relevant laws and regulations, changing commercial
risks and business conditions to enable them to make well-informed decisions.
Board Composition and Guidance
Principle 2: Strong and independent element on the Board
The Board of Directors comprises three Executive Directors and five Non-Executive Directors. Three of the Non-Executive
directors are independent. This composition complies with the Code’s requirement that at least one-third of the Board
should be made up of Independent Directors.
Executive Directors
Mr Sun Zhao Lin
Ms Tian Ruo Nan
Mr Sun Tian

(Executive Chairman)
(Chief Executive Officer)
(Executive Director)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr Ng San Tiong
Mr Hoon Chee Wai
Mr Chua Kee Lock
Mr Ho Chew Thim
Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook

(Deputy Chairman and Non-Executive Director)
(Non-Executive Director)
(Lead Independent Director)
(Independent Director)
(Independent Director)

The Board’s structure, size and composition are reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee (the “NC”). The NC is
of the view that the Board is of the appropriate size and with the right mix of skills and experience given the nature and
scope of the Group’s operations. The Executive Directors have extensive experience in the crane manufacturing industry
while the Non-Executive Directors are well established and competent in their respective professions.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Principle 3: Clear division of responsibilities at the top of the Company
There is a balance of power and authority in the Company, such that no one individual represents a concentration of
power. The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) are separate persons to ensure an appropriate
distribution of power.
Mr Sun Zhao Lin, one of the founders of the Group, is the Executive Chairman of the Company. He is responsible for the
formulation and execution of overall business strategy and policies and future direction as well as the overall management
of the Group.
The Chairman is also responsible for representing the Board to shareholders, ensuring that Board meetings are held when
necessary and Board members are provided adequate and timely information. He approves the Board meeting agenda
in consultation with the CEO, Financial Controller and Company Secretaries, acts as facilitator at Board meetings and
maintains regular dialogues with the CEO on operational matters. In the absence of the Chairman, the Deputy Chairman,
Mr Ng San Tiong will chair the Board meetings.
Ms Tian Ruo Nan, spouse of Mr Sun Zhao Lin, is the CEO of the Company. She is also one of the founders of the Group
and is responsible for and oversees the day-to-day management of the Group.
As stated under the Code, companies may appoint an Independent Non-Executive Director as a Lead Independent
Director where the Chairman and CEO are related by close family ties and part of the executive management team.
Accordingly, Mr Chua Kee Lock was appointed as a Lead Independent Director of the Company.
Mr Chua Kee Lock, being the Lead Independent Director of the Company, is available to Shareholders where they have
concerns, which contact through the normal channels of the Chairman and the CEO has failed to resolve or for which
such contact is inappropriate.
Board membership
Principle 4: Formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board
The NC comprises entirely of Independent Directors and they are:
(1)
(2)
(3)

Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook (Chairman of the NC / Independent Director)
Mr Chua Kee Lock (Lead Independent Director)
Mr Ho Chew Thim (Independent Director)

The main role of the NC is to make the process of Board appointments and re-appointments of Directors more
transparent and to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of individual Director to the
effectiveness of the Board.
The scope and responsibilities of the NC are as follows:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)

make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new executive and non-executive Directors, including
making recommendations to the composition of the Board;
review the Board structure, size and composition and make recommendations to the Board with regards to any
adjustments that are deemed necessary;
identify and nominate candidates for the approval of the Board, determine annually whether or not a Director
is independent, to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise as well as put in place plans for succession, in
particular for the Chairman and the CEO;
recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election;
decide whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director of the
Company, particularly when he/she has multiple board representations;
assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and assess the contribution of each individual Director to the
effectiveness of the Board; and
deciding on how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria.

The NC has conducted an annual review of Directors’ independence based on the Code’s criteria for independence. In
addition, a Director must also not be a nominee of a substantial shareholder. The NC is of the view that Dr Steve Lai Mun
Fook, Mr Chua Kee Lock and Mr Ho Chew Thim are independent.
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The Articles of Association of the Company require the number nearest to one-third of the Directors to retire by rotation
and subject themselves to re-election by the shareholders in every Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). In addition, all
Directors of the Company shall retire from office once every three years. It was also provided in the Articles of Association
of the Company that additional Directors appointed during the year shall only hold office until the next AGM and are
subject to re-election by the shareholders.
The Board has accepted NC’s nomination of the retiring directors, namely, Ms Tian Ruo Nan, Mr Chua Kee Lock and Dr
Steve Lai Mun Fook at this forthcoming AGM.
New Directors are appointed on Board, after NC has reviewed and considered the qualifications and experience of the
nominated Director. Such new Directors must submit themselves for re-election at the next AGM of the Company.
Board Performance
Principle 5: Formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board and contributions of each Director
The NC undertakes a process to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole for the financial year ended 31 March
2010. The appraisal process focused on evaluation of factors such as the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s
access to information, Board processes and accountability, Board performance in relation to discharging its principal
responsibilities and the Directors’ standards of conduct. The NC has reviewed the multiple directorships disclosed
by each Director of the Company and is of the view that the existing directorships of the respective Director has not
impinged on his/her ability to discharge his/her duties.
Site visits would be conducted for the Non-Executive Directors to enable them to familiarise themselves with the
operations of the Group.
Access to information
Principle 6: Board members to have complete, adequate and timely information
To enable the Board to fulfill its responsibility, Management strives to provide Board members with adequate information
to the Board on a timely basis. In addition, all relevant information, on material events and transactions are circulated to
Directors as and when they arise. Draft announcements will be circulated to the Board for review and approval before
dissemination to the shareholders via SGXNet.
The Company Secretaries or their representatives administer attend all Board and Board committees meetings and are
responsible for ensuring that proper procedures at such meetings are followed. The Directors receive the meeting papers
at least 3 days before the meeting so that the Directors have ample time to review. All Board members have separate
and independent access to the Company Secretaries who are responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Company
complies with the requirements of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) and other rules and regulations that are applicable to the Company.
Should Directors, whether as a group or individually, need independent professional advice to fulfill their duties, such
advice will be obtained from a professional firm of the Director’s choice, the cost of which will be borne by the Company.

REMUNERATION MATTERS
Procedures for developing remuneration policies
Principle 7 – Formal and transparent procedure for ﬁxing remuneration packages of Directors and key management
executives
The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises entirely of Independent Directors and they are:
(1)
(2)
(3)

Mr Chua Kee Lock (Chairman of the RC / Lead Independent Director)
Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook (Independent Director)
Mr Ho Chew Thim (Independent Director)
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The duties of the RC are as follows:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

to review and recommend to the Board the remuneration packages and terms of employment of the Executive
Directors, and senior management or key executives;
to review and recommend to the Board the grant of Share Options Schemes or any long term incentive schemes
which may be set up from time to time;
to carry out its duties in the manner that it deemed expedient, subject always to any regulations or restrictions that
may be imposed upon the RC by the Board from time to time; and
ensure that all aspects of remuneration are covered taking into consideration Principle 8 and Guidelines 8.1 to 8.4
of the Code, that the remuneration packages are comparable within industry and in comparable companies and
shall include a performance-related element with appropriate and meaningful measures of assessing performance
and the remuneration packages of employees related to Executive Directors and controlling shareholders of the
Group are in line with the Group’s staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job
scopes and levels of responsibility.

The recommendations of the RC would be submitted to the Board for endorsement. The RC will have to access to expert
advice inside and/or outside the Company with regard to remuneration matters. No individual Director shall be involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.
Level and mix of remuneration
Principle 8 – The level of remuneration for Directors should be adequate, not excessive, and linked to performance
The remuneration of the Executive Directors is based on the service agreements entered between the Company and the
Executive Directors, namely, Messrs Sun Zhao Lin and Tian Ruo Nan for a period of three years with effect from 1 January
2008 and Mr Sun Tian for a period of two years with effect from 17 August 2009. Either the Company or the Executive
Directors may terminate the Service Agreements by giving 6 months’ written notice of termination to the other party.
The Non-Executive Director and Independent Directors are paid a Directors’ fee for their efforts and time spent,
responsibilities and contribution to the Board, subject to approval by the shareholders at the AGM.
The Company does not have any employee share option schemes or other long-term incentive scheme for Directors at
the moment.
Disclosure of Remuneration
Principle 9 – Clear disclosure of remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting the
remuneration
A breakdown of each individual Director’s remuneration, in percentage terms showing the level and mix for the financial
year ended 31 March 2010, is as follows:
Remuneration Band &
Name of Director

Base/
Fixed Salary

Directors’ Fees

Variable or
Performance Related
Income/Bonus

Total

Sun Zhao Lin

84%

–

16%

100%

Tian Ruo Nan

84%

–

16%

100%

S$250,000 – S$500,000

Below S$250,000
Ng San Tiong

–

100%

56%

39%

Hoon Chee Wai

–

Chua Kee Lock
Ho Chew Thim
Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook

Sun Tian

–

100%

5%

100%

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

Yongmao Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010

22

Corporate Governance Report
The breakdown of remuneration of the Key Executives (who is not a Director) in percentage terms for the financial year
ended 31 March 2010 is as follows:
Remuneration Band &
Name of Key Executive

Base/Fixed Salary

Variable or
Performance Related
Income/Bonus

Total

Yap Soon Yong

87%

13%

100%

Li Tao

98%

2%

100%

Liu Xiao Ming

98%

2%

100%

Below S$250,000

Tian Cheng Tian

97%

3%

100%

Lou Ji Qiang

97%

3%

100%

Yu Hao Bo

98%

2%

100%

No employee of the Company and its subsidiaries was an immediate family member of any Director or the CEO or a
controlling shareholder and whose remuneration has exceeded S$150,000 during the financial year ended 31 March
2010. (“Immediate family member” means the spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, brother, sister and parent.)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Accountability
Principle 10: Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects
The Board is accountable to shareholders for the Management of the Group. The Board will update shareholders on the
operations and financial position of the Company through quarterly and full year results announcements as well as timely
announcements of other matters as prescribed by the relevant rules and regulations. The Management is accountable to
the Board by providing the Board with the necessary financial information for the discharge of its duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Principle 11: Establishment of Audit Committee with written terms of reference
The Audit Committee (the “AC”) comprises entirely of Independent Directors and they are:
(1)
(2)
(3)

Mr Ho Chew Thim (Chairman of the AC / Independent Director)
Mr Chua Kee Lock (Lead Independent Director)
Mr Steve Lai Mun Fook (Independent Director)

The Board is of the view that the AC has the requisite financial management expertise and experience to discharge its
responsibilities properly.
The AC will meet quarterly and as and when necessary to carry out the following functions:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

(v)

(vi)
(vii)

review the audit plans of the Company’s external auditors, including the results of the auditors’ review and
evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls;
review the external auditors’ reports;
review the co-operation given by the Company’s officers to the external auditors;
review the financial statements of the Company and the Group, and discuss any significant adjustments, major
risk areas, changes in accounting policies and practices, compliance with Singapore financial reporting standards,
concerns and issues arising from their audits including any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss in the
absence of management, where necessary, before their submission to the Board for approval;
review and discuss with external auditors any suspected fraud, irregularity or suspected infringement of any
relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Company’s operating
results or financial position and management’s response;
consider the re-appointment of external auditors;
review interested person transactions, falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST;
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(viii)
(ix)
(x)

review any potential conflict of interest;
undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board its findings
from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC; and
undertake generally such other functions and duties as may be required by Law or the Listing Manual of SGX-ST,
and by such amendments made thereto from time to time.

Apart from the above functions, the AC shall commission and review the findings of internal investigations into matters
where there is any suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any Singapore law, rule
or regulation which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results and/or financial position.
Each member of the AC shall abstain from voting on any resolution in respect of matters in which he is interested.
The AC has full access to and co-operation of the Management and external and internal auditors. It also has the
discretion to invite any Director and Key Executive to attend its meetings. The AC has adequate resources to enable it to
discharge its responsibilities properly.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (“FY2010”), the AC met once with the external auditors without the presence
of the management. The AC has undertaken a review of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors for
FY2010 and is satisfied that such services would not in the AC’s opinion, affect the independence of the external
auditors.
The AC has recommended to the Board that Messrs Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton LLP be nominated for re-appointment
as external auditors at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.
The Company has put in place a whistle-blowing framework, endorsed by the AC where employees of the Company may,
in confidence, raise concerns about possible corporate improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters and
to ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent investigations of such matters and for appropriate follow up
actions. The details of the whistle-blowing policies and arrangements have been made available to all employees. The AC
Chairman has not received any complaints as at 31 March 2010.
Internal Controls
Principle 12: Sound system of internal controls
The Board is responsible for ensuring that Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets. The Board believes that in the absence of any evidence to the
contrary and from due enquiry, the system of internal controls that has been maintained by the Company’s Management
throughout the financial year is adequate to meet the needs of the Company in its current business environment.
Internal Audit
Principle 13: Establishment of internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a system of internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investments and the Company’s assets. In accordance with the AC’s recommendation, the Company has re-appointed an
internal auditor, Transfingo Pte Ltd with duties to:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

assess if adequate system of internal controls are in place to protect the fund and assets of the Group and to
ensure control procedures are complied with;
assess if operation of the business processes under review are conducted efficiently and effectively; and
identify and recommend improvement to internal control procedures, where required.

The internal auditors report primarily to the Chairman of the AC and present their findings in the AC meetings.
The internal auditors plan its internal audit schedules in consultation with, but independent of, the Management. The
internal audit plan is submitted to the AC for approval prior to the commencement of the internal audit. The AC will review
the activities of the internal auditors, including overseeing and monitoring of the implementation of improvements required
on internal control weaknesses identified.
The AC has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of the internal audit functions.
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Communication with Shareholders
Principle 14: Regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders
Principle 15: Shareholders’ participation at AGMs
The Company strives for timeliness and transparency in its disclosures to its shareholders and the public. Communication
with shareholders and the public is maintained through regular dissemination of information such as announcements
on quarterly results, press releases and results presentation on the SGXNet. Public awareness on the Company’s latest
development and businesses is also maintained through the Company’s website http://www.yongmaoholdings.com/ and
http://www.yongmao.com.cn/.
While the Notice of AGM will be published on the National Business Newspaper, The Business Times, the Company also
endeavour to deliver the annual reports to the shareholders at least 14 days before the holding of the AGM. A soft copy
of the Annual Report can be downloaded from the SGX-ST’s website.
Shareholders can vote for Resolutions or appoint up to two proxies to attend the meeting on their behalf in the event that
they are unable to attend the meeting. Separate resolutions on each distinct issue are proposed at general meetings for
approval. They are given the opportunity to participate effectively at the AGM through the open question and answer
session to address any concerns and share the views that they might have in relation to the proposed Resolutions.
The Chairman of the AC, RC and NC will be available at the AGM to answer questions relating to the work of these
Committees. The external auditors will also be present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries from the
shareholders.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
The Company has adopted and ensured compliance with the internal compliance code pursuant to the SGX-ST’s best
practices on dealings in securities. The Company and its officers are prohibited from dealing in the securities of the
Company during the period commencing two weeks before the announcement of the Company’s financial results for
each of the first three quarters of its financial year, and one month before the announcement of the Company’s full year
financial results, and ending on the date of the announcements of the relevant results or when they are in possession of
any unpublished price sensitive information on the Group.
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INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any interested persons and has set out the procedures for
review and approval. The AC has reviewed the Interested Person Transactions (“IPTs”) for the financial year ended 31
March 2010 conducted pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate in accordance with Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST’s Listing
Manual and is satisfied that the transactions were on normal commercial terms.
Name of interested person

Sales to

Aggregate value of all IPTs during the
ﬁnancial year under review (excluding
transactions less than S$100,000
and transactions conducted under
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to
Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all
IPTs conducted under the
shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920
(excluding transactions
less than S$100,000)

RMB’000

RMB’000

Shanghai Tat Hong Equipment Rental Co.,
Ltd.
(上海达丰机械租赁有限公司)

–

8,570

China Nuclear Huaxing TatHong Machinery
Construction Co. Ltd
(中核华兴达丰机械工程有限公司)

–

22,339

Jiangsu Zheng He TatHong Equipment
Rental Co., Ltd
(江苏正和达丰机械租赁有限公司)

–

45,512

Beijing Tat Hong Zhaomao Equipment
Rental Co., Ltd
(北京达丰兆茂机械租赁有限公司)

–

132,479

Si Chuan Tat Hong Yuan Zheng Machinery
Construction Co., Ltd
(四川达丰元正机械工程有限公司)

–

34,012

Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery
Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司)

5,400

–

Fushun Engineering Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd
(抚顺工程机械制造有限公司)

3,600

–

9,000

–

Rental charged by

Corporate guarantee provided to
Beijing Tat Hong Zhaomao Equipment
Rental Co., Ltd
(北京达丰兆茂机械租赁有限公司)

The current Shareholders’ Mandate will be expiring on 28 July 2010, being the date of the forthcoming AGM of the
Company. The Company is proposing to seek shareholders’ approval at the AGM to be held on 28 July 2010 to renew the
Shareholders’ Mandate pursuant to Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual, the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless
revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue to be in force until the next AGM.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Save as the service agreements between the Company and the Executive Directors and the IPTs mentioned above,
there are no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interest of any Director or controlling
shareholder subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2010.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
The Management reviews regularly the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business
risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks within the Group’s policies and strategies.
In addition, the external auditors carry out in the course of their statutory audit, a review of the effectiveness of the
Company’s material internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls. Material non-compliance
and internal control weaknesses noted during their audit are reported to the AC together with their recommendations.
Management will follow up on the auditors’ recommendations so as to strengthen the Group’s risk management
procedures.

USE OF IPO PROCEEDS
The Company refers to the net IPO proceeds amounted to S$36.1 million raised from the initial public offering of its
shares.
Application of net IPO Proceeds to the Group (As at 31 March 2010)
Intended Use
Construction of a new manufacturing facility

Amount Allocated
(S$’million)

Amount Utilised
(S$’million)

Balance Amount
(S$’million)

21.7

20.1

1.6

Acquisition of plant and equipment

9.9

3.6

6.3

Working Capital

4.5

4.5

–

36.1

28.2

7.9

Total

The Company will continue to provide periodic updates on the use of the balance of the IPO proceeds through SGXNet.

Yongmao Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010

27

Directors’ Report
The directors submit this annual report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group and the statement of financial position of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2010.

Names of directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Sun Zhao Lin
Sun Tian (also alternate to Sun Zhao Lin)
Tian Ruo Nan
Ng San Tiong
Chua Kee Lock
Ho Chew Thim
Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook
Hoon Chee Wai

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares or debentures
During and at the end of the financial year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any
arrangement the object of which was to enable the directors to acquire benefits through the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or of any other corporate body.

Directors’ interest in shares or debentures
According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Companies Act,
Cap. 50, none of the directors who held office at the end of the financial year was interested in shares or debentures of
the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:
Shares registered in the
name of director
As at
As at
1 April 2009 31 March 2010
The Company Yongmao Holdings Limited
(Number of ordinary shares)
Sun Tian
Sun Zhao Lin
Tian Ruo Nan
The immediate and ultimate holding company Sun & Tian Investment Pte. Ltd. #
(Number of ordinary shares)
Sun Tian
Sun Zhao Lin
Tian Ruo Nan
#

Shares in which director is
deemed to have an interest
As at
As at
1 April 2009 31 March 2010

254,714,350
–
333,000

–
–
333,000

–
254,714,350
127,357,175

–
254,714,350
254,714,350

–
–
–

10,000
45,000
45,000

–
–
–

–
–
–

With effect from 23 March 2010, the immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company is Sun & Tian Investment Pte. Ltd.,
following a transfer of 254,714,350 shares in the name of Sun Tian to Sun & Tian Investment Pte. Ltd. pursuant to the exercise of
the call option deed dated 28 December 2007 between Sun Zhao Lin and Sun Tian.

Messrs Sun Zhao Lin and Tian Ruo Nan, by virtue of the provisions of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, are
deemed to be interested in the whole of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries of the Company and Sun & Tian
Investment Pte. Ltd..
There are no changes to the above shareholdings as at 21 April 2010.
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Directors’ beneﬁts
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or has become entitled to receive a benefit under
a contract which is required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, except for salaries,
bonuses and fees and those benefits that are disclosed in Note 21(c) and Note 21(f) to the financial statements.

Share options
No options were granted during the financial year to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.
No shares were issued during the financial year to which this report relates by virtue of the exercise of the options to take
up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.
There were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under option at the end of the financial year.

Audit Committee
The audit committee at the end of the financial year comprises the following members:
Ho Chew Thim (Chairman)
Chua Kee Lock
Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook
All members of the Audit Committee were independent directors.
The Audit Committee performs the functions set out in Section 201B(5) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Listing
Manual of the Singapore Exchange and the Code of Corporate Governance. In performing those functions, the Committee
reviewed the following:
(i)

overall scope of both the internal and external audits and the assistance given by the Company’s officers to
the auditor. It met with the Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss the results of their respective
examinations and their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls;

(ii)

the quarterly financial information (where applicable) and the statement of financial position of the Company and
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 as well as the
auditor’s report thereon; and

(iii)

interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange).

The committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It
has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The committee also
recommends the appointment of the external auditor and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.
The committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditor and has recommended to the
Board of Directors that the auditor, Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditor at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Independent auditor
The independent auditor, Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton LLP, Certified Public Accountants, has expressed its willingness to
accept re-appointment.
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Other information required by the SGX-ST
Material information
Apart from the Service Agreements between the executive directors and the Company, there are no material contract to
which the Company or its subsidiaries, is a party which involve directors’ interests subsisted or have been entered into
during the financial year.
Interested person transactions
There was no interested person transactions as defined in Chapter 9 of SGX-ST Manual conducted during the financial
year except as disclosed under “Interested Person Transactions” on “Corporate Governance” and on Note 29 to the
financial statements.

On behalf of the Directors

SUN ZHAO LIN

TIAN RUO NAN

Dated: 31 May 2010
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Statement by Directors
In the opinion of the directors, the accompanying statements of financial position, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows, together
with the notes thereon, are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2010 and of the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the
financial year ended on that date, and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the
Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Directors

SUN ZHAO LIN

TIAN RUO NAN

Dated: 31 May 2010
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the members of Yongmao Holdings Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Yongmao Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Company and the Group as at
31 March 2010, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Management’s responsibility for the ﬁnancial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes:
(a)

devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and
balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets;

(b)

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

(c)

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are
properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so
as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2010, and
the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b)

the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by the subsidiary
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditor, have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions
of the Act.

Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Tei Tong Huat
Partner-in-charge of the audit
Singapore, 31 May 2010
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Statements of Financial Position
as at 31 March 2010

The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000

5
6
7
8
9

12
–
–
286,438
13,500
299,950

16
–
–
252,296
–
252,312

248,411
2,518
23,337
–
–
274,266

247,228
3,778
23,337
–
–
274,343

10
11
8
12

–
629
10,432
–

–
616
5,677
–

263,721
146,016
–
28,004

251,146
102,632
–
33,659

13
9
14
15

–
–
–
1,716
12,777
312,727

–
–
–
45,376
51,669
303,981

10,069
92,595
3,876
87,566
631,847
906,113

8,179
–
5,792
106,748
508,156
782,499

16
17

312,484
(2,662)

312,484
(11,322)

312,484
162,322

312,484
150,945

309,822
–
309,822

301,162
–
301,162

474,806
26,292
501,098

463,429
25,249
488,678

18
19
20

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

50,000
1,155
38,679
89,834

50,000
1,546
42,602
94,148

20
12

2,885
–

2,819
–

197,895
50,843

139,636
29,712

13
9
18

–
–
–
–
20
2,905
312,727

–
–
–
–
–
2,819
303,981

29,212
1,910
30,000
1,541
3,780
315,181
906,113

30,205
–
–
–
120
199,673
782,499

Note
Assets
Non-Current
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Subsidiaries
Associated companies
Current
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Amounts owing by subsidiaries
Amounts owing by related parties
Amounts owing by corporate shareholders of
subsidiaries
Amount owing by an associated company
Available-for-sale financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Equity
Capital and Reserves
Share capital
Reserves
Equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company
Minority interests
Total equity
Liabilities
Non-Current
Bank borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current
Trade and other payables
Amounts owing to related parties
Amounts owing to corporate shareholders of
subsidiaries
Amount owing to an associated company
Bank borrowings
Deferred income
Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

Note
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other operating income
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses
Finance costs
Share of results of associated companies, net of tax
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Total profit for the year
Other comprehensive income/(loss) after tax:
Exchange translation difference
Total comprehensive income for the year

4

21(a)
21(b)
21(c)
21(d)
21(e)
22
23(a)

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

461,239
(331,258)
129,981
8,395
(47,451)
(59,396)
(3,197)
(5,543)
2,895
25,684
(6,734)
18,950

594,467
(413,582)
180,885
2,364
(75,752)
(39,988)
(7,062)
(3,769)
–
56,678
(9,727)
46,951

4,815
23,765

(7,001)
39,950

17,097
1,853
18,950

47,532
(581)
46,951

21,912
1,853
23,765

40,531
(581)
39,950

23(b)

Proﬁt attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interests

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interests

RMB cents
Earnings per share
- basic
- diluted

RMB cents

25
3.85
3.85

10.71
10.71

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

Capital
Merger
contribution reserve
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Balance as at 1 April 2008
Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year
Incorporation of a subsidiary
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Transfer to statutory common
reserve
Dividends
28
Balance as at 31 March 2009
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Transfer to statutory common
reserve
Dividends
28
Balance as at 31 March 2010

Statutory
common
reserve
RMB’000

Retained
profits
RMB’000

Total
attributable
to equity
Exchange
holders
fluctuation
of the
reserve
Company
RMB’000 RMB’000

Minority
interests
RMB’000

Total
equity
RMB’000

312,484

(26,769)

18,880

139,295

1,307

445,197

–

445,197

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

47,532
–
–

(7,001)
–
–

40,531
–
–

(581)
6,000
19,830

39,950
6,000
19,830

–
–
312,484

–
–
(26,769)

7,344
–
26,224

(7,344)
(22,299)
157,184

–
–
(5,694)

–
(22,299)
463,429

–
–
25,249

–
(22,299)
488,678

–

–

–

17,097

4,815

21,912

1,853

23,765

–
–
312,484

–
–
(26,769)

2,277
–
28,501

(2,277)
(10,535)
161,469

–
–
(879)

–
(10,535)
474,806

–
(810)
26,292

–
(11,345)
501,098

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Share of results of associated companies
Unrealised profits from sale of towercranes and towercrane accessories to associated
companies
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment written off
Interest expense
Interest income
Operating profit before working capital changes
Increase in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in operating receivables
Increase/(decrease) in operating payables
Cash used in operations
Interest paid
Tax paid
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note A)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note B)
Investment in an associated company
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets
Deposits paid for purchase of flats
Interest received
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Bank borrowings obtained
Restricted bank balance
Capital injection by minority interest
Advances from related parties
Dividends paid to a minority shareholder
Dividends paid
Net cash generated from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as at beginning of year
Exchange adjustments
Cash and cash equivalents as at end of year (Note 15)

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

25,684

56,678

(2,895)

–

26,936
1,260
10,786
(105)
2,166
5,543
(606)
68,769
(12,573)
(119,246)
62,555
(495)
(5,013)
(3,465)
(8,973)

–
1,261
7,631
66
–
3,769
(1,796)
67,609
(58,076)
167,708
(191,778)
(14,537)
(3,419)
(13,664)
(31,620)

(10,000)
(26,101)
(22,500)
1,371
1,916
–
606
(54,708)

(46,726)
(53,696)
–
403
1,687
(2,000)
1,803
(98,529)

30,000
(5,000)
–
21,176
(810)
(10,535)
34,831

50,000
–
6,000
16,660
–
(27,375)
45,285

(28,850)
106,748
4,668
82,566

(84,864)
200,278
(8,666)
106,748

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

A.

Acquisition of a subsidiary

The Group acquired a subsidiary in the financial year 2009. The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were
as follows:

The Group
Identiﬁable assets and liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Amounts owing by related parties
Amounts owing to corporate shareholder of subsidiary
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Trade and other payables
Amounts owing to related parties
Amounts owing to corporate shareholder of subsidiary
Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities
Identiﬁable net assets
Less: Minority interests
Identiﬁable net assets acquired
Goodwill
Consideration for acquisition of 66% equity interest
Less: Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired
Net cash outﬂow on acquisition
Paid in the financial year 2009
Paid in the financial year 2010
Net cash outﬂow on acquisition

B.

Carrying
amounts in
acquiree’s books
RMB’000

17,055
87,435
40,103
40,340
6,394
5,104
196,431
(102,479)
(12,621)
(27,900)
–
(143,000)
53,431

At fair value
RMB’000

23,577
87,435
40,103
40,340
6,394
5,104
202,953
(102,479)
(12,621)
(27,900)
(1,630)
(144,630)
58,323
(19,830)
38,493
23,337
61,830
(5,104)
56,726
46,726
10,000
56,726

Property, plant and equipment

During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of RMB 15,399,000
(2009 - RMB 53,326,000) of which RMB 2,386,000 (2009 - RMB 687,000) remains unpaid at the end of the financial year.
In addition, the Group had paid in advance to suppliers of property, plant and equipment amounting to RMB 13,539,000
(2009 - RMB 1,138,000). Cash payment of RMB 26,101,000 (2009 - RMB 53,696,000) were made to purchase property,
plant and equipment.

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

1

General information
The financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 were authorised for
issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on the date of the Statement By Directors.
The Company is listed on the Singapore Exchange Mainboard (SGX-ST) and incorporated and domiciled in
Singapore as a limited liability company.
The registered office is located at No. 18 Sungei Kadut Avenue, Singapore 729489.
The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are stated in Note 8 to the financial statements.
With effect from 23 March 2010, the immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company is Sun & Tian
Investment Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore, following a transfer of 254,714,350 shares in the name
of Sun Tian to Sun & Tian Investment Pte. Ltd. pursuant to the exercise of the call option deed dated 28 December
2007 between Sun Zhao Lin and Sun Tian.

2(a)

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”)
including related Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) promulgated by the Accounting Standards Council (“ASC”).
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the
accounting policies below.
Signiﬁcant accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRS requires the use of judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and
actions, actual results may differ from those estimates.
The critical accounting estimates and assumptions used and areas involving a high degree of judgement are
described below:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 5)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment to be within 2 to 20 years. The carrying
amount of the Company’s and the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2010 are RMB 12,000
and RMB 248,411,000 respectively. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could
impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges
could be revised.
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 5)
The Company and the Group assess annually whether property, plant and equipment have any indications of
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of judgement and
estimates.
Income tax (Note 23(a))
The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in
determining group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. When the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such determination is made.
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2(a)

Basis of preparation (cont’d)
Signiﬁcant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries (Note 8)
Determining whether investment in subsidiaries is impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use of that
investment. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected from the
cash-generating units and an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the future cash
flows. Management has evaluated the recoverability of investments based on such estimates.
Allowance for impairment of receivables (Note 11)
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts are based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. Allowances are applied to trade and other receivables where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use
of judgement and estimates. Where the expected outcome is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact carrying value of trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.
Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill (Note 7)
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) identified as follows:

Beijing Yongmao Jiangong Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd
(北京永茂建工机械制造有限公司) (“Beijing Yongmao”)

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

23,337

23,337

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimate rates stated below:

Gross margin
Growth rate
Discount rate

Beijing
Yongmao
2010
%

Beijing
Yongmao
2009
%

19.0
10.0
16.8

17.7
10.0
14.8

The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those regarding the discount rate, growth rate and
expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using
pre-tax rate that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU.
The growth rate is based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.
The above estimates are particularly sensitive in the following areas:
z

An increase of two percentage point in the discount rate used would have resulted in an impairment loss of
RMB 968,000 (2009 - one percentage point; RMB 2,000,000).

z

If the gross margin is reduced to 18%, it would have resulted in an impairment loss of RMB 3,000,000
(2009 - 12.7%; RMB 4,000,000)

z

If the revenue growth is reduced by one percentage to 25%, it would have resulted in an impairment loss of
RMB 3,000,000 (2009 - 1%; RMB 1,100,000).
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2(a)

Basis of preparation (cont’d)
Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
Allowance for inventory obsolescence (Note 10)
The Group reviews the ageing analysis of inventories at each reporting date, and makes provision for obsolete
and slow moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. The net realisable value for such
inventories are estimated based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions. Possible
changes in these estimates could result in revisions to the valuation of inventories.
If the net realisable value of the inventory decrease by 1% from management’s estimates, the Group’s profit will
decrease by RMB 2,600,000.
Provision for warranty costs (Note 20)
A provision for warranty is recognised at the financial position date under which faulty products are repaired
and replaced based on past experience of the level of repairs and replacements. Factors that could impact the
estimated provision include the success of the Group’s productivity and quality initiatives, as well as parts and
labour costs.
If the warranty costs differ by 10% from management’s estimate, the provision for warranty costs will be estimated
to be RMB 200,000 (2009 - RMB 200,000) higher or lower.
The accounting policies used by the Group have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the financial
statements.

2(b)

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2010
On 1 April 2009, the Company and the Group adopted the new or revised FRS and INT FRS that are mandatory
for application on that date. Changes to the Company’s and the Group’s accounting policies have been made as
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.
The following are the new or amended FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to the Company and the Group:
FRS 1 (Revised)
FRS 2 (Revised)
FRS 7 (Revised)
FRS 8 (Revised)
FRS 16 (Revised)
FRS 19 (Revised)
FRS 23 (Revised)
FRS 27 (Revised)
FRS 27 and FRS 101
(Amendments)

FRS 33 (Revised)
FRS 34 (Revised)
FRS 36 (Revised)
FRS 38 (Revised)
FRS 39 and FRS 107
(Amendments)

Presentation of Financial Statements - Revised presentation
Inventories
Cash Flow Statements
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
Property, Plant and Equipment
Employee Benefits
Borrowing Costs
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Amendments to FRS 101 First-time Adoption of Financial Standards
and FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate
Earnings Per Share
Interim Financial Reporting
Impairment of Assets
Intangible Assets
Amendments to FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Reclassification of Financial Assets
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2(b)

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2010 (cont’d)
FRS
FRS
FRS
FRS

101
102
105
107

(Revised)
(Amendments)
(Revised)
(Amendments)

FRS 108 (Revised)
INT FRS 101 (Revised)
INT FRS 116 (Revised)
Improvements to FRSs 2008

First-time Adoption of Financial Standards
Amendments relating to vesting conditions and cancellations
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
Operating Segments
Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar
Liabilities
Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

The Company and the Group have adopted all the new and revised FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to its
operations and effective for annual periods beginning on 1 April 2009. The adoption of these new or revised FRS
and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the Company’s and the Group’s accounting policies nor any
significant impact on these financial statements except for the following:
FRS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements
The revised standard requires all changes in equity arising from transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners to be presented separately from components of comprehensive income. Components of comprehensive
income are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, comprising profit or loss for the
year and other comprehensive income.
The “balance sheets” and “cash flow statement” have been re-titled to “statements of financial position” and
“statement of cash flows” respectively.
Comparatives for 2009 have been restated to conform with the requirements of the revised standard.
FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Improving disclosures about financial instruments
The amendments to FRS 107 introduce new disclosures relating to fair value measurements and liquidity risk.
Fair value measurements are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three level hierarchy for each class
of financial instrument. In addition, reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance for Level 3 fair
value measurements is now required, as well as significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements. The amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures. The liquidity risk
disclosures are presented in Note 31 to the financial statements.
FRS 108 Operating Segments
FRS 108 requires a “management approach” under which segment information is presented on the same basis
as that used for internal reporting purposes. In addition, the segments are reported in a manner that is more
consistent with internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. As the Group has one principal
line of business, this new Standard is a disclosure Standard that would not result in a change in reportable
segment arising from the need to do a redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments.
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FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet effective
The Company and the Group have not early adopted the following FRS and INT FRS that have been issued but
not yet effective:

FRS 24 (Revised)
FRS 27 (Revised)
Amendments to FRS 32
Amendments to FRS 39
FRS 101 (Revised)
Amendments to FRS 101
Amendments to FRS 102
FRS 103 (Revised)
Amendments to INT FRS 109
and FRS 39
Amendments to INT FRS 114
INT FRS 117
INT FRS 118
INT FRS 119
Improvements to FRSs 2009

Related Party Disclosures
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Classification of Rights Issues
Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement
- Eligible Hedged Items
First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards
Additional Exemptions for First-time adopters
Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions
Business Combinations
Embedded derivatives
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
Transfer of Assets from Customers
Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on or
after)
1.1.2011
1.7.2009
1.2.2010
1.7.2009
1.7.2009
1.1.2010
1.1.2010
1.7.2009
30.6.2009
1.1.2011
1.7.2009
1.7.2009
1.7.2009
22.6.2009

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these FRS and INT FRS in future periods will have a material
impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application, except as described below:
FRS 27 (amended 2009) and FRS 103 (revised 2009)
(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009)
FRS 27 (amended 2009) and FRS 103 (revised 2009) will become effective for the Group’s financial statements for
the financial year ending 31 March 2011. FRS 103 (revised 2009) introduces significant changes to the accounting
for business combinations, both at the acquisition date and post acquisition, and requires greater use of fair
values. The revised FRS 103 will be applied prospectively and therefore there will be no impact on prior periods in
the Group’s 2010 consolidated financial statements.
The amended FRS 27 requires accounting for changes in ownership interests by the Group in a subsidiary, while
maintaining control, to be recognised as an equity transaction. When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, any
interest retained in the former subsidiary will be measured at fair value with a gain or loss recognised in the profit
or loss. The amendments to FRS 27 are not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies
Consolidation
The financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to the end of the financial year. Information on its subsidiaries is given in Note 8 to the financial statements.
All inter-company balances and significant inter-company transactions and resulting unrealised profits or losses are
eliminated on consolidation and the consolidated financial statements reflect external transactions and balances
only. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included or excluded from
profit or loss from the effective date in which control is transferred to the Group or in which control ceases,
respectively.
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.
Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill. The goodwill is accounted for in accordance with
the accounting policy for goodwill stated below.
Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of business combination is recognised in the profit and loss account on the date of acquisition.
Where accounting policies of a subsidiary do not conform with those of the Company, adjustments are made on
consolidation when the amounts involved are considered significant to the Group.
Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group.
They are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, separately from the parent
shareholders’ equity, and are separately disclosed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Common control business combination outside the scope of FRS 103 “Business Combinations”
A business combination involving entities under common control is a business combination in which all the
combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the
business combination, and that control is not transitory. For such common control business combinations, the
merger accounting principles are used to include the assets, liabilities, results, equity changes and cash flows of
the combining entities in the consolidated financial statements.
In applying merger accounting, financial statement items of the combining entities or businesses for the reporting
year in which the common control combination occurs, and for any comparative years disclosed, are included in
the consolidated financial statements of the combined entity as if the combination had occurred from the date
when the combining entities or businesses first came under the control of the controlling party or parties.
A single uniform set of accounting policies is adopted by the combined entity. Therefore, the combined entity
recognised the assets, liabilities and equity of the combining entities or businesses at the carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements of the controlling party or parties prior to the common control combination.
The carrying amounts are included as if such consolidated financial statements had been prepared by the
controlling party, including adjustments required for conforming the combined entity’s accounting policies and
applying those policies to all years presented. There is no recognition of any goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at
the time of the common control combination. The effects of all transactions between the combining entities or
businesses, whether occurring before or after the combination, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the combined entity.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Depreciation is computed utilising the straight-line method to write off the cost of these assets after
deducting the residual value over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Plant structure
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
Electronic system and equipment
Furniture
Renovation

20 years
2 - 12 years
4 - 10 years
3 - 8 years
5 years
5 - 10 years

No depreciation is provided on construction-in-progress.
The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate
at each financial position date. The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end
to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and
equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or
using the asset. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of
foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment, if any.
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that have been recognised is added to the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the standard of
performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to the Group and the cost can be reliably
measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
For acquisitions and disposals during the financial year, depreciation is provided from the month after acquisition
and to the month of disposal respectively. Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the
books of accounts until they are no longer in use.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model with the exception of goodwill. Capitalised costs are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives for those considered as finite useful lives. After
initial recognition, they are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. In addition, they are subject to annual impairment testing. Indefinite life intangibles, if any, are not amortised
but are subject to annual impairment testing.
Intangible assets are written off where, in the opinion of the directors, no further future economic benefits are
expected to arise.
Trademark and patents
Costs relating to trademark and patents which are acquired from Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司) by way of capital contribution-in-kind, are capitalised and amortised on a straight-line
basis over their remaining useful life as at the effective date of transfer:
Trademark
Patents

remaining useful life of 4.8 years
remaining useful life of 7.2 years
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Intangible assets (cont’d)
Crawler crane design and manufacturing drawings
Costs relating to crawler crane design and manufacturing drawings which are acquired from Fushun Engineering
Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd (抚顺工程机械制造有限公司) are capitalised and amortised on a straight-line
basis over their useful life of 10 years.
Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether there is
control.
Shares in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for any impairment losses on an individual subsidiary
basis. The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values on the date of
acquisition, irrespective of the extent of minority interest.
Associated companies
An associated company is defined as a company, not being a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity, in which the
Group has significant influence, but not control, over its financial and operating policies. Significant influence is
presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity.
Investments in associated companies at the company level are stated at cost. Allowance is made for any
impairment losses on an individual company basis.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results of associated companies, based on the latest available audited
financial statements/management accounts, is included in profit or loss using the equity method of accounting. In
applying the equity method, unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associated company equals or exceeds the carrying amount of an
investment, the Group ordinarily discontinues including its share of future losses. The investment is reported
at nil value. Additional losses are provided for to the extent that the Group has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associated company to satisfy obligations of the associated company that the Group
has guaranteed or otherwise committed, for example, in the forms of loans. When the associated company
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes including its share of those profits only after its share of the
profits equals the share of net losses recognised.
The Group’s share of the net assets and post-acquisition retained profits and reserves of the associated companies
is reflected in the book values of the investments in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Associated companies (cont’d)
Where the accounting policies of an associated company do not conform with those of the Company, adjustments
are made on consolidation when the amounts involved are considered significant to the Group.
On acquisition of the investment, any difference between the cost of acquisition and the Group’s share of the fair
values of the net identifiable assets of the associated company is accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policies on “Consolidation” and “Goodwill”.
When financial statements of the associated companies with different reporting dates are used (not more than
three months apart), adjustments are made for the effects of any significant events or transactions between
the investor and the associated companies that occur between the date of the associated companies’ financial
statements and the financial position date.
Financial assets
Financial assets include cash and financial instruments. Financial assets, other than hedging instruments, can
be divided into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity
investments, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. Financial assets are assigned to the
different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the assets were
acquired. The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated and classification may be changed at the reporting
date with the exception that the designation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition is not revocable.
All financial assets are recognised on their trade date - the date on which the Company and the Group commit to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value.
Derecognition of financial instruments occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments expire or
are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred. An assessment
for impairment is undertaken at least at each financial position date whether or not there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.
Non compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognised in profit or
loss when received, regardless of how the related carrying amount of financial assets is measured.
Other than loan and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the Company and the Group do not
designate any financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or held-to-maturity investment.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They arise when the Company or the Group provides money, goods or services directly to
a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. They are included in current assets, except for maturities
greater than 12 months after the financial position date. These are classified as non-current assets, if any.
Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment, if any. If there is objective evidence that the asset has been impaired, the financial asset
is measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised. The impairment or writeback is recognised in profit or
loss.
Loans and receivables include trade and other receivables, amounts owing by subsidiaries, corporate shareholders
of subsidiaries and an associated company, related party balances and deposits held in banks.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Financial assets (cont’d)
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets include non-derivative financial assets that do not qualify for inclusion in any of
the other categories of financial assets. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to
dispose of the investment within 12 months of the financial position date.
All financial assets within this category are subsequently measured at fair value, if any, with changes in value
recognised in equity, net of any effects arising from income taxes, until the financial assets is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in equity is included
in profit or loss for the period.
When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised directly in equity and
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognised directly in
equity shall be removed from the equity and recognised in profit or loss even though the financial asset has not
been derecognised.
The amount of the cumulative loss that is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss shall be the
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for equity investments classified as available-for-sale are not
subsequently reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for debt instruments
classified as available-for-sale are subsequently reversed in profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the
instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.
Impairment losses recognised in a previous interim period in respect of available-for-sale equity instruments or
financial assets carried at cost are not reversed even if the impairment losses would have been reduced or avoided
had the impairment assessment been made at a subsequent reporting or financial position date.
Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted-average
basis, and includes all costs in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. In the case of
manufactured products, cost consists of cost of raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads based on the normal level of activity.
Provision is made, where necessary, for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories in arriving at the net
realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of
restricted bank balance.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary
shares are deducted against the share capital account.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Dividends
Final dividends proposed by the directors are not accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of
retained profit, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.
Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the articles of association of the Company
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
directly as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
Related parties
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also
considered related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be
individuals or corporate entities.
Financial liabilities
The Company’s and the Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, amounts owing to corporate
shareholders of subsidiaries and an associated company, related party balances and bank borrowings.
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Company and the Group become a party to the contractual
agreements of the instrument. All interest-related charges are recognised as an expense in “finance costs” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Company’s and the
Group’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value of proceeds received less attributable transaction costs, if any.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost which is the initial fair value less any principal repayments.
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is taken to profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. The interest expense is chargeable on the
amortised cost over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation process.
Borrowings which are due to be settled within twelve months after the financial position date are included in
current borrowings in the statement of financial position even though the original terms were for a period longer
than twelve months and an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is completed
after the financial position date. Borrowings to be settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle are classified
as current. Other borrowings due to be settled more than twelve months after the financial position date are
included in non-current borrowings in the statement of financial position.
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
Dividend distributions to shareholders, if any, are included in current financial liabilities when the dividends are
payable.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Financial liabilities (cont’d)
Financial guarantees
The Group has issued corporate guarantees to certain banks for bank borrowings of its customers. These
guarantees are financial guarantee contracts as they require the Company to reimburse the banks if the customers
fail to make principal or interest payments when due in accordance with the terms of their borrowings.
Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at their fair value plus transaction costs.
Financial guarantee contracts are subsequently amortised to profit or loss over the period of the entities’
borrowings, unless the Group has incurred an obligation to reimburse the bank for an amount higher than the
unamortised amount. In this case, the financial guarantee contracts shall be carried at the expected amount
payable to the bank.
Income taxes
Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered
from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
financial position date.
Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and
affects neither accounting or taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.
A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associated companies, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is measured:
(i)

at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the date of the financial position; and

(ii)

based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the date of
the financial position, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax
arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.
Sales tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except where the sales tax incurred
in a purchase or assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable.
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Impairment of non-ﬁnancial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the Group’s non-financial assets subject to impairment are reviewed
at each financial position date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs will be identified.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment
and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the
company at which management controls the related cash flows.
Individual assets or cash-generating units that include goodwill and other intangible assets, if any, with an indefinite
useful life or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual assets
or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss, if any, is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs to sell and value-in-use, based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation. Impairment
losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the
carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cashgenerating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an
impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.
Any impairment loss is charged to profit or loss unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it is charged
to equity.
With the exception of goodwill,
z

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount or when there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for the asset no
longer exists or decreases.

z

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.

z

A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the heading
revaluation surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was
previously recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income, a reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised as income in the statement of comprehensive income.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed, even if it relates to impairment loss recognised in
an interim period that would have been reduced or avoided had the impairment assessment been made at a
subsequent reporting or financial position date.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Provisions
Provisions, including provision for warranty, are recognised when the Company and the Group have a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation. Present obligations arising from onerous contracts are recognised as provision.
The Group recognises the estimated liability to repair or replace products under warranty at the financial position
date. This provision is calculated based on historical experience of the level of repairs and replacement.
The directors review the provisions annually and where in their opinion, the provision is inadequate or excessive,
due adjustment is made.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that
reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance costs.
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer.
Revenue excludes relevant goods and services taxes (“GST”) and value-added taxes (“VAT”), where applicable,
and is arrived at after deduction of trade discounts, if any. No revenue is recognised if there are significant
uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.
Revenue from sale of towercranes, towercrane components and accessories and scrap materials is recognised
when goods are sold to customers, which generally coincides with their delivery and acceptance.
Interest income is recognised on a time-apportioned basis using the effective interest method.
Government grant
Government grant is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant with the related costs
which they are intended to compensate.
Government grant is not recognised as income until there is a reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to it.
Employee beneﬁts
Pension obligations
The Group participates in the defined contribution national pension and other welfare schemes on a mandatory
basis. The contributions to these schemes are charged to profit or loss in the year to which the contributions
relate.
Employee leave entitlements
No provision has been made for employee leave entitlements as any unconsumed annual leave not utilised will be
forfeited.
Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the entity. Directors and certain general managers are considered key management
personnel.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Operating leases
Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases.
Rentals on operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives, if any, are recognised as an integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset.
Penalty payments on early termination, if any, are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method except for those costs that
are directly attributable to the construction or development of properties. This includes those costs on borrowings
acquired specifically for the construction or development of properties, as well as those in relation to general
borrowings used to finance the construction or development of properties.
The actual borrowing costs incurred during the period up to the issuance of the temporary occupation permit less
any investment income on temporary investment of these borrowings are capitalised in the cost of the property
under development. Borrowing costs on general borrowings are capitalised by applying a capitalisation rate to
construction or development expenditures that are financed by general borrowings.
Functional currencies
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial statements of the
Company and the Group are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000), unless
otherwise stated.
Conversion of foreign currencies
Transactions and balances
Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the closing rates at the financial position date are recognised in profit or loss, unless they arise from
borrowings in foreign currencies, other currency instruments designated and qualifying as net investment hedges
and net investment in foreign operations. Those currency translation differences are recognised in the exchange
fluctuation reserve in the consolidated financial statements and transferred to profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal of the foreign operation.
Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate at the
date when the fair values are determined.
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Summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies (cont’d)
Conversion of foreign currencies (cont’d)
Group entities
The results and financial position of all the entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
within the Group that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:
(i)

Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the date of the financial position;

(ii)

Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case,
income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions); and

(iii)

All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Operating segments
For the financial years presented, the Group has one operating segment, which is the manufacturing and sale
of towercranes and towercrane components and accessories. The Group’s manufacturing activities operate
predominantly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
For management purposes, operating segments are organised based on their products and services which are
independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective
segments under their charge. The segment managers are directly accountable to the chief executive officer who
regularly reviews the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess segment
performance.
Geographical segment revenue and non-current assets information is based on geographical location of customers
and assets respectively.

4

Revenue
Revenue represents sale of towercranes, towercrane components and accessories, excluding applicable GST or
VAT, is detailed as follows:

The Group
Manufactured towercranes
Towercrane components and accessories

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

428,579
32,660
461,239

556,582
37,885
594,467
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Property, plant and equipment
Electronic system
and equipment
RMB’000

The Company
Cost
Balance as at 1 April 2008
Additions
Exchange translation difference
Balance as at 31 March 2009
Additions
Disposals
Exchange translation difference
Balance as at 31 March 2010

24
10
(4)
30
10
(23)
3
20

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1 April 2008
Depreciation for the year
Exchange translation difference
Balance as at 31 March 2009
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Exchange translation difference
Balance as at 31 March 2010

6
9
(1)
14
6
(13)
1
8

Net book value
Balance as at 31 March 2010

12

Balance as at 31 March 2009

16

The Group
Cost
Balance as at 1 April 2008
Additions
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Disposals
Exchange translation
difference
Balance as at 31 March
2009
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Exchange translation
difference
Balance as at 31 March
2010

Plant
Plant and
Motor
structure machinery vehicles
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Electronic
system and
equipment
RMB’000

Construction–
Furniture Renovation in–progress
Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

588
110
1,192
–

19,647
5,999
19,001
(997)

9,054
2,427
2,770
(47)

1,861
934
450
–

–
66
–
–

2,362
1,031
164
–

151,919
42,759
–
–

185,431
53,326
23,577
(1,044)

–

–

–

(4)

–

–

–

(4)

1,890
–
–
–

43,650
2,132
(510)
–

14,204
4,399
(1,374)
–

3,241
1,281
(39)
–

66
12
–
–

3,557
2,128
(3,285)
155

194,678
5,447
–
(155)

261,286
15,399
(5,208)
–

–

–

–

3

–

–

–

3

1,890

45,272

17,229

4,486

78

2,555

199,970

271,480
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Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

The Group
Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1 April 2008
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Exchange translation
difference
Balance as at 31 March
2009
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Exchange translation
difference
Balance as at 31 March
2010

Plant
Plant and
Motor
structure machinery vehicles
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Electronic
system and
equipment
RMB’000

Construction–
Furniture Renovation in–progress
Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

33
42
–

3,927
3,907
(544)

2,023
2,436
(31)

567
803
–

–
1
–

453
442
–

–
–
–

7,003
7,631
(575)

–

–

–

(1)

–

–

–

(1)

75
94
–

7,290
6,142
(177)

4,428
3,102
(454)

1,369
783
(16)

1
15
–

895
650
(1,129)

–
–
–

14,058
10,786
(1,776)

–

–

–

1

–

–

–

1

169

13,255

7,076

2,137

16

416

–

23,069

Net book value
Balance as at 31 March
2010

1,721

32,017

10,153

2,349

62

2,139

199,970

248,411

Balance as at 31 March
2009

1,815

36,360

9,776

1,872

65

2,662

194,678

247,228

The Group
Depreciation expense charged to:
Cost of sales
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

4,953
940
4,893
10,786

3,704
977
2,950
7,631

Plant structure of RMB 588,000 relates to the structural costs incurred on the factory building on the leasehold
land belonging to Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd (抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司) for which the
subsidiary, Fushun Yongmao Construction Machinery Co., Ltd (抚顺永茂建筑机械有限公司) (“Fushun Yongmao”)
leases the leasehold land together with the buildings for a period of 10 years, commencing 1 October 2007 [see
Note 26.1(a)].
Plant structure of RMB 1,302,000 relates to the structural costs incurred on the factory building on the leasehold
land belonging to Beijing Construction Group Co., Ltd (北京建工集团有限责任公司) (“Beijing Construction”) for
which the subsidiary, Beijing Yongmao, leases the leasehold land together with the buildings for a period of 10
years, commencing 1 October 2006 [see Note 26.1(e)].
Renovation includes:
a)

an amount of RMB 1,117,000 relating to refurbishing works carried out at a subsidiary’s premises at No. 3,
Yuanda Road, Shuncheng District, Fushun City, Liaoning Province, the PRC, 113126.

b)

an amount of RMB 1,111,000 relating to refurbishing works carried out at a subsidiary’s premises at No.
119, Houzai Zhong Road, Hongshan Town, Wuxi City New District, Jiangsu, the PRC, 214145.

c)

an amount of RMB 327,000 relating to refurbishing works carried out at a subsidiary’s premises at No. 12,
Shuanghe Avenue, Linhe Industrial Development Zone, Shunyi District, Beijing, the PRC, 101300.
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Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
Construction-in-progress includes:

6

a)

an amount of RMB 7,407,000 paid to the People’s Government of Shuncheng District (抚顺市顺城区人民政
府) to acquire the land use rights for a parcel of land located at the Fushun Machinery Manufacturing Park,
Qiandian Town, Shuncheng District, Fushun City, Liaoning Province, the PRC (抚顺永茂工业园区) with an
area of approximately 240,000 square metres (“sq m”) for a leasehold period of 30 years. As at 31 March
2010, the Group has not yet obtained the land use rights to the said land.

b)

the construction of a new factory, with a site area of approximately 240,000 sq m on the above land.
As at 31 March 2010, the amount incurred was RMB 176,980,000 and there is no capital commitment
outstanding for this construction-in-progress.

Intangible assets

Trademark
RMB’000

Patents
RMB’000

Crawler crane
design and
manufacturing
drawings
RMB’000

Cost
Balance as at 31 March 2009 and
31 March 2010

4,006

2,404

1,000

7,410

Accumulated amortisation
Balance as at 1 April 2008
Amortisation for the year
Balance as at 31 March 2009
Amortisation for the year
Balance as at 31 March 2010

1,658
829
2,487
829
3,316

663
332
995
331
1,326

50
100
150
100
250

2,371
1,261
3,632
1,260
4,892

Net book value
Balance as at 31 March 2010

690

1,078

750

2,518

1,519

1,409

850

3,778

The Group

Balance as at 31 March 2009

Total
RMB’000

Trademark relates to the right to use the business name “永茂”, for a period of 10 years, expiring on 20 February
2011.
Patents relate to the right to manufacture self damping slewing speed controller for a period of 10 years, expiring
on 2 July 2013.
Crawler crane design and manufacturing drawings purchased from a related party, Fushun Engineering Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd (抚顺工程机械制造有限公司) is for the purpose of providing capabilities to the Group to
manufacture crawler cranes in the future.
In the opinion of the directors of the Group, there is no indication that the recorded book value cannot be
recovered from the business operations in the future periods.
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Goodwill

The Group
Balance as at beginning of year
On acquisition of a subsidiary
Balance as at end of year

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

23,337
–
23,337

–
23,337
23,337

Goodwill arises from the difference between the purchase consideration and the fair value of the net assets of
Beijing Yongmao, acquired by the Group on 9 January 2009.
In the opinion of the directors of the Group, there is no indication that the recorded book value cannot be
recovered from the business operations in the future periods.

8

Subsidiaries

The Company

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

Unquoted equity investment, at cost
Balance as at beginning of year
Additional investment during the year
Balance as at end of year

252,296
34,142
286,438

252,296
–
252,296

6,231
4,201
10,432

5,675
2
5,677

Amounts owing by subsidiaries (non-trade)
- Fushun Yongmao Construction Machinery Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂建筑机械有限公司)
- Yongmao Machinery Pte. Ltd.

The amount owing by a subsidiary, Fushun Yongmao, represents the sharing of the Initial Public Offerings (“IPO”)
costs incurred. This amount is unsecured, interest-free and is receivable on demand.
The owing by Yongmao Machinery Pte. Ltd. relates to advances made, is unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.
Acquisition of a subsidiary
On 9 January 2009, the Group acquired 66% of equity interest in Beijing Yongmao, for a cash consideration of
RMB 61,830,000. The fair value of identifiable net assets of the acquiree at the date of acquisition amounted to
RMB 38,493,000, resulting in goodwill on acquisition of RMB 23,337,000. Details of identifiable net assets acquired
are disclosed in Note A of the consolidated statement of cash flows.
The goodwill was attributable to the synergies expected to arise after the acquisition.
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Subsidiaries (cont’d)
The subsidiaries are:
Country of
incorporation/
principal place
of business

Name

Subsidiaries held by the Company
Fushun Yongmao Construction
Machinery Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂建筑机械有限公司)*
Yongmao Machinery Pte.
Ltd. ^

The People’s
Republic of
China

Cost of
investment
2009
2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

Percentage of
equity held
2010
2009

283,948

249,806

100%

100% Manufacturing and sale
of towercranes and
construction machinery

2,490

2,490

100%

100% Sale of towercranes
and construction
machinery

Singapore

Principal activity

Subsidiaries held by Fushun Yongmao
Beijing Yongmao Jiangong
Machinery Manufacturing Co.,
Ltd (北京永茂建工机械制造有
限公司)*

The People’s
Republic of
China

+

+

66%

66%

Manufacturing and sale
of towercranes and
construction machinery

Wuxi Yongmao Tower Crane
Co., Ltd (无锡永茂塔机有限公
司)*

The People’s
Republic of
China

+

+

80%

80%

Manufacturing and sale
of towercranes and
construction machinery

286,438

252,296

*
^
+
9

Audited by Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton LLP for the purpose of FRS reporting
Audited by Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton LLP
Interest held through a subsidiary

Associated companies
The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
Unquoted equity investment, at cost
Balance as at beginning of year
Investment during the year
Share of post-acquisition profits and reserves
Unrealised profits eliminated
Transferred to deferred income
Balance as at end of year

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000

–
13,500
–
–
–
13,500

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
22,500
2,895
(26,936)
1,541
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

Amount owing by an associated company (trade)
- Beijing Tat Hong Zhaomao Equipment
Rental Co., Ltd (北京达丰兆茂机械租赁有限公司)

–

–

92,595

–

Amount owing to an associated company
(non-trade)
- Si Chuan Tat Hong Yuan Zheng Machinery
Construction Co., Ltd (四川达丰元正机械工程
有限公司)

–

–

1,910

–

The amount owing to an associated company, Si Chuan Tat Hong Yuan Zheng Machinery Construction Co., Ltd
(四川达丰元正机械工程有限公司), relates to advance payment received. This amount is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.
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Associated companies (cont’d)

The summarised financial information of the associated companies are as follows:
- Assets
- Liabilities
- Revenue
- Net profit
- Share of contingent liabilities in which the Group is liable

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

414,110
270,885
24,075
7,035
9,000

–
–
–
–
–

The associated companies are:
Country of
incorporation/
principal place
of business

Name

Principal activity

Beijing Tat Hong Zhaomao
Equipment Rental Co., Ltd
(北京达丰兆茂机械租赁有限公司) *^

The People’s
Republic
of China

45%

–

Providing rental services for towercrane,
heavy lifting equipment and other related
services including installation, repair
and maintenance on those construction
equipment and machinery
(Incorporated on 9 April 2009)

Si Chuan Tat Hong Yuan Zheng
Machinery Construction Co., Ltd
(四川达丰元正机械工程有限公司) +

The People’s
Republic
of China

20.25%

–

Providing rental services for towercrane,
heavy lifting equipment and other related
services including installation, repair
and maintenance on those construction
equipment and machinery
(Incorporated on 20 January 2010)

*
^
+

10

Effective
percentage of
equity held
2010
2009

Audited by Audit Alliance for the purpose of FRS reporting
27% held by the Company, 18% held through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Fushun Yongmao
Held through the associated company, Beijing Tat Hong Zhaomao Equipment Rental Co., Ltd
(北京达丰兆茂机械租赁有限公司)

Inventories
2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

98,959
106,387
58,375
263,721

104,300
99,899
46,947
251,146

Included in cost of sales are inventories charged of:

331,258

413,582

The Group

The ageing of inventory approximates 284 (2009 - 157) days.
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Trade and other receivables
The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
Trade receivables
Bills receivables
GST or VAT receivables
Staff loans
Staff advances
Advances made to suppliers of raw materials
Down-payment for property, plant and equipment
Deposits
Prepayments
Advances to a director of a subsidiary
Amounts owing by related companies of a
corporate shareholder of a subsidiary
Other receivables

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
629
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
616
–

96,199
–
2,500
4,479
3,703
21,309
13,539
73
2,725
8

63,351
12,348
3,868
4,127
3,542
11,520
1,138
–
634
8

–
–
629

–
–
616

22
1,459
146,016

1,226
870
102,632

Trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
–
629
–
–
629

Renminbi
Singapore dollar
United States dollar
Euro

–
616
–
–
616

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
135,807
704
9,505
–
146,016

99,855
617
1,885
275
102,632

Trade receivables are usually due within 30 - 90 days and do not bear any effective interest rate. All trade
receivables are subject to credit risk exposure. However, the Company and the Group do not identify specific
concentrations of credit risk with regards to trade and other receivables, as the amounts recognised resemble a
large number of receivables from various customers. The ageing of trade receivables of the Group is 63 (2009 - 23)
days.
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies with good collection track
record with the Group.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

Past due less than 1 year
Past due over 1 year
Past due over 2 to 5 years

Normal business
operations
RMB’000

Trade receivables arising
from assignment of debts
RMB’000

Total
2010
RMB’000

Total
2009
RMB’000

12,894
5,096
–
17,990

–
–
21,068
21,068

12,894
5,096
21,068
39,058

6,216
–
28,148
34,364
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Trade and other receivables (cont’d)
The amount of RMB 21,068,000 (2009 - RMB 28,148,000) owing from these trade debtors relate to debts which
were assigned to a subsidiary by Beijing Construction. During the financial year 2009, the subsidiary has agreed
with Beijing Construction who has accepted and undertakes to make good the debts provided the subsidiary can
demonstrate and prove that the said assigned trade receivables to be uncollectible after taking appropriate legal
recourse.
As at the financial position date, Beijing Construction is a creditor to the subsidiary to the extent of RMB 26.4
million (2009 - RMB 29.4 million) [Note 13]. In addition, 北京市建筑工程机械厂, a subsidiary of Beijing Construction
is also a creditor to the extent of RMB 9.6 million (2009 - RMB 13.9 million).
Based on historical default rates and the commitment of Beijing Construction to make good the debts assigned to
the subsidiary, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables past
due.
The bills receivables from third parties mature as follow:

The earliest date
The latest date

2010

2009

–
–

16 April 2009
13 August 2009

The staff loans, comprise mainly housing loans, are unsecured, interest-free and are receivable on demand.
The advances made to staff are for business purposes.
Advances made to suppliers of raw materials relate to the down-payment for the supplies made.
Amounts owing by related companies of a corporate shareholder of a subsidiary, 北京建工长城慕墙装饰有限公
司 and 北京市建筑工程机械厂, relate to payments made on behalf, are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

12

Amounts owing by/(to) related parties

The Group
Amounts owing by related parties
Trade
- China Nuclear Huaxing TatHong Machinery Construction Co. Ltd
(中核华兴达丰机械工程有限公司)
- Jiangsu Zheng He TatHong Equipment Rental Co., Ltd
(江苏正和达丰机械租赁有限公司)
- Shanghai Tat Hong Equipment Rental Co., Ltd.
(上海达丰机械租赁有限公司)
- Fushun Yongmao Hydraulic Machinery Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂液压机械有限公司)
- Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
(北京威腾专用汽车有限责任公司)
Non-trade
- Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司)
- Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
(北京威腾专用汽车有限责任公司)

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

12,475

11,625

2,811

–

7,661

17,877

–

1

1,466
24,413

565
30,068

300

300

3,291
3,591
28,004

3,291
3,591
33,659
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Amounts owing by/(to) related parties (cont’d)

The Group
Amounts owing to related parties
Trade
- Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司)
- Fushun Engineering Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd
(抚顺工程机械制造有限公司)
- Fushun Yongmao Industry and Trade Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂工贸发展有限公司)
- Fushun Yongmao Hydraulic Machinery Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂液压机械有限公司)
- Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
(北京威腾专用汽车有限责任公司)
- Fushun Yongmao Concrete Machinery Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂混凝土机械有限公司)
Non-trade
- Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司)
- Fushun Yongmao Industry Group Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂实业集团有限公司)
- Fushun Yongmao Industry and Trade Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂工贸发展有限公司)

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

6,637

1,137

4,525

900

742

226

883

22

135

727

45
12,967

–
3,012

3,876

16,700

34,000

–

–
37,876
50,843

10,000
26,700
29,712

2010

2009

173 days

21 days

20 days

–

90 days

80 days

–

34 days

44 days

120 days

The credit period for the debt owing by the related parties is as follows:

China Nuclear Huaxing TatHong Machinery Construction Co. Ltd
(中核华兴达丰机械工程有限公司)
Jiangsu Zheng He TatHong Equipment Rental Co., Ltd
(江苏正和达丰机械租赁有限公司)
Shanghai Tat Hong Equipment Rental Co., Ltd.
(上海达丰机械租赁有限公司)
Fushun Yongmao Hydraulic Machinery Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂液压机械有限公司)
Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
(北京威腾专用汽车有限责任公司)
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Amounts owing by/(to) related parties (cont’d)
The credit period for the debt owing to the related parties is as follows:

Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司)
Fushun Engineering Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd
(抚顺工程机械制造有限公司)
Fushun Yongmao Industry and Trade Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂工贸发展有限公司)
Fushun Yongmao Hydraulic Machinery Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂液压机械有限公司)
Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
(北京威腾专用汽车有限责任公司)
Fushun Yongmao Concrete Machinery Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂混凝土机械有限公司)

2010

2009

263 days

83 days

275 days

90 days

224 days

25 days

209 days

134 days

156 days

30 days

156 days

–

The non-trade amount of RMB 300,000 owing by Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd (抚顺永茂工程
机械有限公司) relates to deposits paid in respect to rental of office space and factory premises.
The advances of RMB 3,291,000 (2009 - RMB 3,291,000) owing by Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The advances of RMB 3,876,000 (2009 - RMB 16,700,000) owing to Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co.,
Ltd (抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司) are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The advances of RMB 34,000,000 owing to Fushun Yongmao Industry Group Co., Ltd (抚顺永茂实业集团有限公司)
as at 31 March 2010 are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
In the financial year 2009, the amount of RMB 10,000,000 owing to Fushun Yongmao Industry and Trade Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂工贸发展有限公司) related to the balance payable for the acquisition of a subsidiary. This amount was
fully repaid during the financial year.
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Amounts owing by/(to) corporate shareholders of subsidiaries

The Group
Amounts owing by corporate shareholders of subsidiaries
- Trade
- Beijing Construction Group Co., Ltd (北京建工集团有限责任公司)
- Wuxi Jushen Crane Co., Ltd (无锡巨神起重机有限公司)
- Non-trade
- Beijing Construction Group Co., Ltd (北京建工集团有限责任公司)
- Wuxi Jushen Crane Co., Ltd (无锡巨神起重机有限公司)

Amounts owing to corporate shareholders of subsidiaries
- Trade
- Wuxi Jushen Crane Co., Ltd (无锡巨神起重机有限公司)
- Non-trade
- Beijing Construction Group Co., Ltd (北京建工集团有限责任公司)
- Loan
- Interest payable
- Advances
- Rental payable

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

89
3,414
3,503

–
1,613
1,613

6,394
172
6,566
10,069

6,394
172
6,566
8,179

2,810

830

18,355
3,236
3,438
1,373
26,402
29,212

18,355
2,707
3,438
4,875
29,375
30,205

The non-trade amount owing by Beijing Construction representing advances is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.
The non-trade amount owing by Wuxi Jushen Crane Co., Ltd (无锡巨神起重机有限公司) relates to payment made
on behalf and is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The loan of RMB 18,355,000 (2009 - RMB 18,355,000) from Beijing Construction is unsecured and is repayable on
31 March 2011 (2009 - 31 March 2010). Interest is charged at 5.84% (2009 - 7.62%) per annum.
The advances of RMB 3,438,000 (2009 - RMB 3,438,000) owing to Beijing Construction are unsecured, interestfree and repayable on demand. The carrying value approximates the fair value of the advances.
Rental payable relates to the lease on the subsidiary’s, Beijing Yongmao, leasehold land, workshop, warehouse,
factory building and relevant supporting facilities located at No. 12, Shuanghe Avenue, Linhe Industrial
Development Zone, Shunyi District, Beijing, the PRC, 101300. The total floor and land area is approximately 40,915
sq m and approximately 148,700 sq m respectively. The lease commences on 1 October 2006 and expires on 30
September 2016. The current rental payable on the lease is RMB 4,500,000 per annum [see Note 26.1(e)].
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Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

(A)

5,792
–
–
5,792
(1,916)
3,876

–
5,479
2,000
7,479
(1,687)
5,792

(B)
(A) +(B)

1,774
(1,774)
–
3,876

1,774
(1,774)
–
5,792

The Group
Available-for-sale financial assets - Residential apartments
Balance as at beginning of year
70% deposits previously paid
Balance of 30% paid during the year
Less: Units sold
Balance as at end of year
Unquoted equity investment
Impairment loss

The available-for-sale financial assets relate to the purchase of 47 units of apartments located at 顺城区前旬詹
家-唯美品格-新城住宅小区with a total area of 4,184.29 sq m with the intention of disposal. The fair values of the
apartments approximate its costs as the Group intends to sell these units at cost to certain employees of the
Group. No gain or loss is expected upon the sale of the said apartments.
During the financial year, 11 (2009 - 10) units with a total area of 1,002.63 (2009 - 856.15) sq m were sold to
employees of the Group. As at 31 March 2010, the Group has 26 remaining units with a total area of 2,325.51 sq
m unsold.
The unquoted equity investment relates to the 0.4% equity interest held in Beijing Anju Engineering Co., Ltd (北京
安居工程股份有限公司) which the Group intends to dispose.
The investee company is:

Name

Cost of investment
2010
2009
RMB’000 RMB’000

Beijing Anju Engineering Co., Ltd
(北京安居工程股份有限公司)

15

1,774

1,774

Percentage of
equity held
2010
2009

0.4%

0.4%

Principal activity

Property development

Cash and cash equivalents
The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
Cash on hand
Bank balances
Fixed deposits

*

*
1,716
–
1,716

*
687
44,689
45,376

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
1,044
86,522
–
87,566

3,013
59,046
44,689
106,748

represents amount less than RMB 1,000

In the financial year 2009, the fixed deposits interest ranged from 0.125% to 1.313% per annum and matured
within one month from the financial position date.
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Cash and cash equivalents (cont’d)
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:
The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
Renminbi
Singapore dollar
United States dollar
Euro

*

–
1,510
206
–
1,716

–
45,294
82
–
45,376

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
38,580
8,189
40,797
*
87,566

57,323
47,516
1,886
23
106,748

represents amount less than RMB 1,000

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the year end cash and bank balances comprise the
following:
The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
Cash on hand
Bank balances
Fixed deposits
Less: restricted bank balance #

#

16

1,044
86,522
–
87,566
(5,000)
82,566

3,013
59,046
44,689
106,748
–
106,748

Certain customers have obtained bank loans to finance their purchase of towercranes and towercrane
accessories of the Group. The Group is required to keep RMB 5,000,000 as restricted bank balance
for payment to the banks in the event of customers’ default payment on the loans. The bank loans that
remained outstanding as at 31 March 2010 are RMB 3,520,000.

Share capital
The Company and The Group

No. of shares

RMB’000

443,750,000

312,484

Issued and fully paid with no par value:
Balance as at 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.
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Reserves

Note
Non-distributable
Merger reserve
Statutory common reserve
Exchange fluctuation reserve

Distributable
(Accumulated losses)/retained profits

(i)

(ii)

The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000

–
–
(1,152)
(1,152)

–
–
(6,230)
(6,230)

(26,769)
28,501
(879)
853

(26,769)
26,224
(5,694)
(6,239)

(1,510)
(2,662)

(5,092)
(11,322)

161,469
162,322

157,184
150,945

The merger reserve arises from the difference between the purchase consideration and the carrying value of the
share capital of the subsidiary acquired under the pooling-of-interests method of consolidation.
Exchange fluctuation reserve arises from the translation of the Company’s assets and liabilities.
(i)

Statutory common reserve

The Group
Balance as at beginning of year
Transfer from retained profits
Balance as at end of year

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

26,224
2,277
28,501

18,880
7,344
26,224

According to the current PRC Company Law, the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are required to transfer
between 5% and 10% of its profit after taxation to statutory common reserve until the common reserve balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital. For the purpose of calculating the transfer to this reserve, the profit after
taxation shall be the amount determined under the PRC accounting standards. The transfer to this reserve must
be made before the distribution of dividends to shareholders.
Statutory common reserve can be used to make good previous year’s losses and for conversion to capital, if any,
provided that the balance remains not less than 25% of the registered capital.
(ii)

(Accumulated losses)/retained proﬁts

Balance as at beginning of year
Transfer to statutory common reserve
Net profit/(loss) for the year
2008 final dividends
2009 final dividends
Balance as at end of year

The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000

(5,092)
–
14,117
–
(10,535)
(1,510)

157,184
(2,277)
17,097
–
(10,535)
161,469

24,319
–
(7,112)
(22,299)
–
(5,092)

139,295
(7,344)
47,532
(22,299)
–
157,184
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Bank borrowings

The Group
Bank loan - secured
- Bank of Communications, Fushun Branch (中国交通银行抚顺分行)
Bank loan #1
Bank loan #2

Note

a
b

Amount repayable within one year
Amount repayable after one year

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

50,000
30,000
80,000

50,000
–
50,000

30,000
50,000
80,000

–
50,000
50,000

The bank loans granted to a subsidiary, Fushun Yongmao, are secured by the related parties’, Fushun Engineering
Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd (抚顺工程机械制造有限公司) and Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co.,
Ltd (抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司), properties and land use rights located at No. 2 and 3, Yuanda Road, Shuncheng
District, Fushun City, Liaoning Province, the PRC, 113126 respectively.
Interest is charged at the prevailing basic interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China, revised on a
monthly basis.
The bank loans have an effective interest rate of 6.04% (2009 - 7.62%) per annum.

19

(a)

Bank loan #1 is repayable in full on 15 April 2011.

(b)

Bank loan #2 is repayable in full on 25 June 2010.

Deferred tax liabilities

The Group
Balance as at beginning of year
On acquisition of a subsidiary
Transfer to profit or loss
Balance as at end of year

Note

23(a)

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

1,546
–
(391)
1,155

–
1,630
(84)
1,546

The balance comprises tax liabilities on the excess of net book value over tax written down value of property, plant
and equipment.
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Trade and other payables
The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
Trade payables
Bills payables
Accrual for purchases
Advances from customers
Amount owing to suppliers of property,
plant and equipment
Warranty for after-sale services
Provision for directors’ fees
Accrual of retirement benefits
Amounts owing to related companies of
corporate shareholders of subsidiaries
- trade
- rental payable
- advances
- others
Amount owing to a director
- Sun Zhao Lin (孙兆林)
Other accrued expenses
Other payables
Less: Trade and other payables - non-current

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

113,616
5,400
17,193
21,815

69,045
–
11,962
17,735

–
–
1,172
–

–
–
1,191
–

2,386
2,000
1,172
42,646

687
2,000
1,191
46,565

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

393
875
4,357
4,324

–
875
8,745
4,324

–
1,713
–
2,885
–
2,885

–
1,628
–
2,819
–
2,819

480
16,163
3,754
236,574
(38,679)
197,895

120
15,533
3,456
182,238
(42,602)
139,636

Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies:
The Company
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
Renminbi
Singapore dollar
United States dollar
Euro

–
2,885
–
–
2,885

–
2,819
–
–
2,819

The Group
2010
2009
RMB’000
RMB’000
225,894
2,966
7,272
442
236,574

165,411
2,822
14,005
–
182,238

The fair value of trade and other payables have not been disclosed as, due to their short duration, management
considers the carrying amounts recognised in the statements of financial position to be reasonable approximation
of their fair value. The ageing of trade payables is 101 (2009 - 48) days.
The bills payables to third parties mature as follow:

The earliest date
The latest date

2010

2009

18 June 2010
28 July 2010

–
–

Yongmao Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010

69

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

20

Trade and other payables (cont’d)
The advances from customers represent down-payment for sale orders made.
Warranty for after-sale services relate to the estimated costs of after-sale services and warranty costs for sale
of towercranes and towercrane components and accessories to the Group’s customers. The warranty sum is
recognised at the financial position date for expected warranty claims based on past experience of the level of
repairs and returns.
The amount of RMB 4,324,000 (2009 - RMB 4,324,000) owing to a related company of a corporate shareholder of
a subsidiary, 北京市建筑工程机械厂, is unsecured advances, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The amount owing to a director, Sun Zhao Lin (孙兆林) relates to rental of the office premises located at No. 19-1
BDA International Enterprise Avenue, No. 2 North Jingyuan Road, Beijing Economic and Technology Development
Zone, the PRC, 100176 (北京市经济技术开发区景园北街2号, BDA 国际企业大道 19号-1, the PRC, 100176). The
lease was terminated by mutual agreement on 31 December 2009. This amount is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.
Accrual of retirement benefits - On 26 June 2006, a subsidiary, Beijing Yongmao, entered into a restructuring
exercise with Beijing Construction for the acquisition of business belonging to 北京市建筑工程机械厂, a whollyowned subsidiary of Beijing Construction where the subsidiary agreed and accepted amongst others, to be the
sponsor to a defined benefit plan when acquiring certain line of business. In this regard, the liability owing to the
defined benefit plan has been finalised at that point where a valuation under the PRC rules and regulations has
been carried out prior to the taking over of the said liability. In the opinion of the directors of the subsidiary, to the
extent of the projected benefit obligation, the subsidiary had duly accounted for when arriving at the purchase
consideration during the 2006 restructuring exercise to which there is unlikely the existence of unrecognised
components and therefore any differences between the contributions and the net pension cost will not affect the
asset or liability recognised when the acquisition took place.
The movement of the obligations under the defined benefit plan is as follows:
2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

Balance as at beginning of year
On acquisition of a subsidiary
Payments made during the year
Balance as at end of year

46,565
–
(3,919)
42,646

–
47,154
(589)
46,565

Amount repayable within one year
Amount repayable after one year and not after five years
Amount repayable after five years

3,967
15,868
22,811
42,646

3,963
15,852
26,750
46,565

The Group
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21(a) Other operating income

The Group
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Government grants
Interest income
- bank deposits
- fixed deposits
Sale of scrap materials
Miscellaneous income

Effective interest rate (per annum)
- bank deposits
- fixed deposits

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

105
5,446

–
–

527
79
695
1,543
8,395

1,567
229
559
9
2,364

0.72%
0.24%

1.56%
0.45%

Government grants relate to subsidies received for the successful listing of the Group in prior years, subsidy of
bank loan interest expenses, and subsidy for technical development of towercranes.

21(b) Distribution costs

The Group
Depreciation expense
Employee benefit expenses
Freight charges
Office expenses
Operating lease rentals
Promotion and advertising expenses
Research and development
Sales service expenses
Transportation expenses
Others

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

940
2,334
24,735
344
11,321
2,029
260
2,891
2,293
304
47,451

977
2,243
50,701
283
10,091
1,823
251
6,922
2,037
424
75,752
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21(c) Administrative expenses

The Group
Amortisation expense
Depreciation expense
Directors’ fee
Employee benefit expenses
Office expenses
Operating lease rentals
Other governmental taxes
Professional fees
Research and development costs
Transportation and travelling expenses
Others

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

1,260
4,893
1,146
25,761
6,762
1,207
3,942
1,532
2,754
3,848
6,291
59,396

1,261
2,950
1,269
19,211
2,672
344
–
2,314
2,956
2,166
4,845
39,988

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

246
102
397
–
2,166
286
3,197

296
2,588
4,087
66
–
25
7,062

21(d) Other operating expenses

The Group
Bank charges
Donation
Exchange loss
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment written off
Others

21(e) Finance costs

The Group
Interest expense
- loan from a corporate shareholder of a subsidiary
- bank borrowings

Effective interest rate (per annum)
- loan from a corporate shareholder of a subsidiary
- bank borrowings

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

1,094
4,449
5,543

350
3,419
3,769

5.84%
6.04%

7.62%
7.62%
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21(f)

Employee beneﬁt expenses

The Group
Directors’ remuneration
- Directors of the Company
- salaries and related costs
- defined contributions
- Directors of the subsidiaries
- salaries and related costs
- defined contributions
Key management personnel (other than directors)
- salaries and related costs
- defined contributions
Other than directors and key management personnel
- salaries and related costs
- defined contributions

As disclosed in:
Cost of sales
Administrative expenses
Distribution costs

22

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

2,896
65

2,727
62

799
43

105
14

2,131
200

1,332
102

38,250
6,692
51,076

29,979
4,390
38,711

22,981
25,761
2,334
51,076

17,257
19,211
2,243
38,711

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

1,260
10,786
1,146
397
11
16,775
2,166
(105)

1,261
7,631
1,269
4,087
–
10,875
–
66

Proﬁt before taxation

The Group

Note

Profit before taxation has been arrived at
after charging/(crediting):
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Directors’ fee
Exchange loss
Non-audit fee paid/payable to auditors of the Company
Operating lease rentals
Property, plant and equipment written off
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

6
5
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23(a) Taxation

The Group
Current taxation
Deferred taxation
Underprovision of current taxation in respect of prior years

Note

19

2010
RMB’000
7,105
(391)
6,714
20
6,734

2009
RMB’000
9,811
(84)
9,727
–
9,727

The tax expense on the results of the financial year varies from the amount of income tax determined by applying
the PRC’s statutory rate of income tax on the Group's results as a result of the following:
2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

Profit before taxation

25,684

56,678

Tax at the PRC statutory rate of 25%
Tax effect on non-taxable income
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses
Singapore statutory stepped income exemption
China income tax exemption
Difference in tax rate of the Singapore entities
Underprovision of current taxation in respect of prior years

6,421
(4,995)
13,275
(48)
(6,765)
(1,174)
20
6,734

14,170
–
3,970
–
(8,413)
–
–
9,727

The Group

According to the PRC’s taxation law, any enterprise with foreign investment of a production nature granted to
operate for a period of not less than ten years shall be exempted from income tax in the first and second year and
allowed a fifty percent reduction in the third to fifth year, commencing from the first year that is making profit.
The subsidiary, Fushun Yongmao, has been granted such incentive with effect from 13 July 2006.
The subsidiary, Wuxi Yongmao Tower Crane Co., Ltd (无锡永茂塔机有限公司), does not have any taxable profit
during the financial year.
Unrecognised temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
As at 31 March 2010, no deferred tax liability has been recognised for withholding tax that would be payable
on certain undistributed earnings of the PRC subsidiaries as the Group has determined that portion of the
undistributed earnings of its PRC subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
The amount of deferred tax liability not provided on undistributed earnings of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB
6,443,000 (2009 - RMB 3,853,000).
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23(b) Other comprehensive income/(loss) after tax

The Group
Exchange translation difference

The Group
Exchange translation difference

24

Before tax
RMB’000
4,815

Before tax
RMB’000
(7,001)

2010
Tax expense
RMB’000
–
2009
Tax expense
RMB’000
–

Net of tax
RMB’000
4,815

Net of tax
RMB’000
(7,001)

Retirement beneﬁt plans
The eligible employees of subsidiaries, who are citizens of the PRC, are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the local government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the subsidiaries
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.
The total cost charged to the profit or loss for the year, representing defined contribution national pension plan, are
as follows:

The Group

25

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

4,097

2,803

Earnings per share
The basic and diluted earnings per share of the Company is calculated based on the Group’s profit after taxation
attributable to members of the Company of RMB 17,097,000 (2009 - RMB 47,532,000) on the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue of 443,750,000 (2009 - 443,750,000) during the financial year.
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Commitments

26.1

Operating lease commitments (non-cancellable)
The Group
At the financial position date, the Group was committed to making the following lease rental payments under noncancellable operating leases for leasehold land, office and factory premises and accommodation for employees:

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
(a)

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

16,900
53,040
32,100

16,764
57,055
36,600

The lease on the Group’s leasehold land, office and factory premises on which rental is payable is located
at No. 3, Yuanda Road, Shuncheng District, Fushun City, Liaoning Province, the PRC, 113126. The land
area is 162,615 sq m. The lease commenced on 1 October 2007 and expires on 30 September 2017. The
monthly rental payable is as follows:
Rental per month
RMB’000
First and second year
Third and fourth year
Subsequent years

400
500
To be agreed between parties

(b)

The lease on the Group’s leasehold land and factory premises on which rental is payable is located at No.
2, Yuanda Road, Shuncheng District, Fushun City, Liaoning Province, the PRC, 113126. The land area is
60,703 sq m. The lease commences on 1 April 2010 and expires on 31 March 2011. The rental payable is
RMB 300,000 per month.

(c)

The lease on the Group’s office premises on which rental is payable is located at 24B, Building 4, Renheng
Plaza, 88 Maoxing Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai, the PRC, 200127 (上海市浦东新区茂兴路88号仁
恒广场4号楼24B). The office area is 137.16 sq m. The lease commenced on 12 May 2004 and expires on 11
May 2010. The rental payable is RMB 6,000 per month.

(d)

The lease on the Group’s office premises on which rental is payable is located at 18 Heyuan Street, Daoli
District, Haerbin, the PRC, 150076 (哈尔滨市道理区河源街18号). The office area is 84.77 sq m. The lease
commenced on 20 March 2006 and expires on 19 March 2011. The rental payable is RMB 16,000 per
annum.

(e)

The lease on the Group’s leasehold land, workshop, warehouse, factory building and relevant support
facilities on which rental is payable is located at No. 12, Shuanghe Avenue, Linhe Industrial Development
Zone, Shunyi District, Beijing, the PRC, 101300. The total floor and land area is approximately 40,915 sq m
and approximately 148,700 sq m respectively. The lease commenced on 1 October 2006 and expires on 30
September 2016. The rental payable is RMB 4,500,000 per annum.

(f)

The lease on the Group’s leasehold land, office and factory premises on which rental is payable is located
at No. 119, Houzai Zhong Road, Hongshan Town, Wuxi City New Distrct, Jiangsu, the PRC, 214145. The
total land area is approximately 48,916.8 sq m. The lease commenced on 23 July 2008 and expires on
31 December 2018. The leasehold land, office and factory premises are rent-free from 23 July 2008 to 31
December 2008. From 1 January 2009 onwards, the rental payable is RMB 230,000 per month.

(g)

The leases on the Group’s accommodation for certain employees on which rentals are payable will expire
earliest on 6 July 2010 and latest on 8 October 2010. The rental payable ranges from RMB 900 to RMB
1,350 per month and are subject to revision on renewal.
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Commitments (cont’d)

26.2

Capital commitments

The Group
Capital expenditure contracted but not provided for in the financial statements
- Machinery

27

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

39,075

51,049

Contingent liabilities (unsecured)
The Group
The Group has provided the following guarantees at the reporting date:

28

(i)

It has guaranteed its share of the bank borrowings of RMB 20,000,000 of an associated company, jointly
with other investors, to a maximum of RMB 9,000,000.

(ii)

It has provided corporate guarantees to a maximum of RMB 150,000,000 to certain banks for customers
who have obtained bank loans to finance their purchase of towercranes and towercrane accessories
and components of the Group. The bank loans that remain outstanding as at 31 March 2010 are RMB
11,710,000.

Dividends

The Group
Ordinary dividends
Final one-tier tax exempt dividend paid in respect of the previous financial year
of S$0.005 (2009 - S$0.01) per share

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

10,535

22,299

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a first and final exempt (one-tier) dividend of 0.25 Singapore cents
per share amounting to a total of RMB 5,414,000 (S$1,109,375) will be recommended. These financial statements
do not reflect this dividend, which will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained
earnings in the financial year ending 31 March 2011.
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Signiﬁcant related party transactions
Other than the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following are
significant transactions entered with related parties:

The Group
Sales to related parties
- Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
(北京威腾专用汽车有限责任公司)
- China Nuclear Huaxing TatHong Machinery Construction Co. Ltd
(中核华兴达丰机械工程有限公司)
- Fushun Yongmao Hydraulic Machinery Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂液压机械有限公司)
- Jiangsu Zheng He TatHong Equipment Rental Co., Ltd
(江苏正和达丰机械租赁有限公司)
- Shanghai Tat Hong Equipment Rental Co., Ltd.
(上海达丰机械租赁有限公司)
- Tat Hong Heavy Equipment (Pte.) Ltd.
Sales to corporate shareholders of subsidiaries
- Beijing Construction Group Co., Ltd
(北京建工集团有限责任公司)
- Wuxi Jushen Crane Co., Ltd
(无锡巨神起重机有限公司)
Sales to associated companies
- Beijing Tat Hong Zhaomao Equipment Rental Co., Ltd
(北京达丰兆茂机械租赁有限公司)
- Si Chuan Tat Hong Yuan Zheng Machinery Construction Co., Ltd
(四川达丰元正机械工程有限公司)

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

8,280

18

25,434

70,929

–

1

52,459

1,561

8,570
303

28,266
–

2,628

–

1,634

1,378

133,616

–

36,799

–

735

728

–

179,276

Purchases from related parties
- Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
(北京威腾专用汽车有限责任公司)
- Beijing Yongmao Jiangong Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd
(北京永茂建工机械制造有限公司) #
- Fushun Yongmao Hydraulic Machinery Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂液压机械有限公司)
- Fushun Yongmao Industry and Trade Co., Ltd.
(抚顺永茂工贸发展有限公司)

790

19

1,117

1,157

Purchases from a corporate shareholder of a subsidiary
- Wuxi Jushen Crane Co., Ltd
(无锡巨神起重机有限公司)

1,308

830

Purchases from a related company of a corporate shareholder of a subsidiary
- 无锡市巨神英立商贸有限公司

336

–

Sales of property, plant and equipment to a related party
- Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
(北京威腾专用汽车有限责任公司)

192

–
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Signiﬁcant related party transactions (cont’d)
2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

80

–

783

3,412

–

2,588

5,400

4,800

3,600
61

3,600
55

4,500

1,125

2,740

690

360

480

Loan interest charged by a corporate shareholder of a subsidiary
- Beijing Construction Group Co., Ltd
(北京建工集团有限责任公司)

1,094

350

Corporate guarantee provided to an associated company
- Beijing Tat Hong Zhaomao Equipment Rental Co., Ltd
(北京达丰兆茂机械租赁有限公司)

9,000

–

320

–

–

65,691

The Group
Purchases of property, plant and equipment from a related party
- Beijing Weiteng Special Purpose Auto Co., Ltd
(北京威腾专用汽车有限责任公司)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment from a corporate shareholder
of a subsidiary
- Wuxi Jushen Crane Co., Ltd
(无锡巨神起重机有限公司)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment from a related company of a
corporate shareholder of a subsidiary
- 无锡市巨神英立商贸有限公司
Rental fee charged by related parties
- Fushun Yongmao Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd
(抚顺永茂工程机械有限公司)
- Fushun Engineering Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd
(抚顺工程机械制造有限公司)
- Tat Hong Heavy Equipment (Pte.) Ltd.
Rental fee charged by corporate shareholders of subsidiaries
- Beijing Construction Group Co., Ltd
(北京建工集团有限责任公司)
- Wuxi Jushen Crane Co., Ltd
(无锡巨神起重机有限公司)
Rental fee charged by a director
- Sun Zhao Lin (孙兆林)

Other income charged to an associated company
- Beijing Tat Hong Zhaomao Equipment Rental Co., Ltd
(北京达丰兆茂机械租赁有限公司)
Procurement of materials for used by
Beijing Yongmao Jiangong Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd
(北京永茂建工机械制造有限公司) in respect of the Manufacturing Agreement
dated 28 December 2007 #
Related parties refer to companies with common director.
#

On 9 January 2009, the Group acquired 66% of the registered capital of Beijing Yongmao. Consequently, Beijing Yongmao
ceased to be a related party to the Group on that date as it is considered to be a subsidiary.
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Disclosure of directors’ remuneration
As required by the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange, the remuneration of directors of the Company is
disclosed in bands as follows:
2010

2009

–
–
2
–
–
–
–
6
8

–
–
2
–
–
–
–
7
9

Number of directors
RMB 1,750,000 to RMB 2,000,000
RMB 1,500,000 to RMB 1,749,999
RMB 1,250,000 to RMB 1,499,999
RMB 1,000,000 to RMB 1,249,999
RMB 750,000 to RMB 999,999
RMB 500,000 to RMB 749,999
RMB 250,000 to RMB 499,999
Below RMB 250,000

31

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Company and the Group have policies which set out the Company’s and the Group’s overall business
strategies and its risk management philosophy and financial risk management policies. The Company and the
Group are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The key
financial risks included fair value interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and market
price risk. The Company’s and the Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the
Company’s and the Group’s financial performance.
Risk management is carried out by the Finance Division under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The
Finance Division identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units.
The Company and the Group do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to hedge
against fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.

31.1

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Company’s and the Group’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Company’s and the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is mainly with non-trade advances from related
parties which is interest-free as shown in Note 12, loan from a corporate shareholder of a subsidiary, Beijing
Construction, as shown in Note 13 and bank borrowings as shown in Note 18 to the financial statements.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

31.1

Interest rate risk (cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis
For the variable rate financial liabilities owing for bank borrowings and loan from a corporate shareholder of a
subsidiary, a change of 50 basis points (“bp”) in interest rate at the reporting date would increase/(decrease) profit
or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency
rates, remain constant.
2010
Proﬁt and loss
50bp
50bp
increase
decrease
RMB’000
RMB’000

The Group
Bank borrowings
Loan from a corporate shareholder of a subsidiary

31.2

(364)
(92)
(456)

2009
Profit and loss
50bp
50bp
increase
decrease
RMB’000
RMB’000

364
92
456

(250)
(92)
(342)

250
92
342

Foreign currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange
rates. Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.
The Group carries out its business in the PRC and most of the transactions are denominated in Singapore dollar
(“SGD”), United States dollar (“USD”), Euro and Renminbi. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign exposure should the need arises.
The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

SGD
RMB’000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Currency exposure on net financial
assets/(liabilities)
Less:
Net financial assets denominated
in respective entity’s functional
currency
Currency exposure on financial
assets and liabilities
*

represents amount less than RMB 1,000

2010
USD
RMB’000

Euro
RMB’000

SGD
RMB’000

2009
USD
RMB’000

Euro
RMB’000

8,189
704
8,893

40,797
9,505
50,302

*
–
*

47,516
617
48,133

1,886
1,885
3,771

23
275
298

(2,966)

(7,272)

(442)

(2,822)

(14,005)

–

5,927

43,030

(442)

45,311

(10,234)

298

(818)

–

–

(45,311)

–

–

5,109

43,030

(442)

–

(10,234)

298
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

31.2

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)
A 5% strengthening of the SGD, USD and Euro against the Renminbi as at 31 March 2010 would have had the
following impact on the profit before tax by the amounts shown below:

The Group

2010
RMB’000
Proﬁt before
tax

2009
RMB’000
Profit before
tax

SGD - strengthened 5% (2009 - 5%)
- weakened 5% (2009 - 5%)

256
(256)

–
–

USD - strengthened 5% (2009 - 5%)
- weakened 5% (2009 - 5%)

2,152
(2,152)

(512)
512

Euro - strengthened 5% (2009 - 5%)
- weakened 5% (2009 - 5%)

(22)
22

15
(15)

A 5% weakening of the SGD, USD and Euro against the Renminbi at 31 March 2010 would have the equal but
opposite effect on the Renminbi of the amounts shown above.
The Company is not exposed to any significant foreign currency risk.
Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the period depending on the volume of overseas transactions.
Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group’s exposure to currency risk.
31.3

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
Company or the Group to incur a financial loss. The Company’s and the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises
primarily from trade and other receivables.
For sales of towercranes in the PRC, the Group typically requires a down payment of up to 30% of the contract
price upon the order being placed. Upon delivery, up to 65% of the contract price is payable and the balance is
to be paid by the customer at the expiry of the 12-month warranty period for manufacturing defects. For certain
customers in the PRC, the Group gives credit terms of up to 90 days from the date of invoice.
For the Group’s overseas sales of towercranes, the Group typically requires a down payment of up to 30% of the
contract price upon the order being placed. Upon shipment, the balance of the contract price is payable by way of
letter of credit or telegraphic transfer.
The credit terms granted to customers are recommended by the Group’s sales department and approved by
the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, Tian Ruo Nan (田若南) and are determined based on the credit worthiness,
payment history, transaction volume, financial background, market reputation and the existing relationship that the
Group has with its customers.
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to its financial assets. The Group has no other significant concentration of credit risk other than as at 31
March 2010, the five largest trade receivables which represent approximately 39% of the total trade receivables at
the financial position date. No other financial assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk.
There is no impairment losses recognised in the relevant periods since the receivables are substantially with
companies with good collection track record with the Group.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

31.3

Credit risk (cont’d)
Exposure to credit risk
As the Company and the Group do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of
financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the statement of
financial position, except as follows:
2010
RMB’000

The Group

11,710

Corporate guarantees provided to banks

2009
RMB’000
–

The Company’s and the Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits and trade receivables. Cash
is held with financial institutions of good standing. Further details of credit risks on trade and other receivables are
disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements.
31.4

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company and the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial
asset quickly at close to its fair value.
The Company’s and the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of
financial assets and liabilities. The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring the availability of adequate funds to
meet all its obligations in a timely and cost-effective manner.
The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Company’s and the Group’s financial liabilities based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows:

The Group

Less than
1 year
RMB’000

Between 1
and 5 years
RMB’000

Over 5 years
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Balance as at 31 March 2010
Trade and other payables
Bank borrowings
Amounts owing to related parties
Amounts owing to corporate shareholders
of subsidiaries
Amounts owing to an associated company

Balance as at 31 March 2009
Trade and other payables
Bank borrowings
Amounts owing to related parties
Amounts owing to corporate shareholders
of subsidiaries

197,895
30,000
50,843

15,868
50,127
–

22,811
–
–

236,574
80,127
50,843

29,212
1,910
309,860

–
–
65,995

–
–
22,811

29,212
1,910
398,666

139,636
–
29,712

15,852
53,180
–

26,750
–
–

182,238
53,180
29,712

30,205
199,553

–
69,032

–
26,750

30,205
295,335
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

31.4

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The Company

31.5

Less than
1 year
RMB’000

Between 1
and 5 years
RMB’000

Over 5 years
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

Balance as at 31 March 2010
Trade and other payables

2,885

–

–

2,885

Balance as at 31 March 2009
Trade and other payables

2,819

–

–

2,819

Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities
traded in the market.
The Group does not hold any quoted or marketable financial instrument, hence is not exposed to any movement in
market prices.
However, the Group is exposed to the market price for its principal raw materials which relate mainly to the steel
materials.
A 10% increase in the price of steel for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 would have the effect of
decreasing the profit before taxation by the amount shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular interest rates, remain constant.

The Group
Effect of decreasing profit before taxation by:

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

16,914

18,478

A 10% decrease in the price of steel for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 would have had the equal
opposite effect on the amount shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.
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Statement of operations by segments
The Group is substantially operating in one business segment, namely developing and manufacturing and sale
of towercranes and towercrane components and accessories. Accordingly, no business segment information is
presented. Geographical segment revenue and non-current assets information based on geographical location of
customers and assets respectively are as follows:

The Group
Geographical Segment
Revenue
Asia and Middle East
United States of America and Europe
The PRC

Non-current assets
Asia and Middle East
The PRC

33

2010
RMB’000

2009
RMB’000

63,583
30,111
367,545
461,239

259,494
104,797
230,176
594,467

26
274,240
274,266

16
274,327
274,343

Financial instruments
Fair values
The carrying amount of the financial assets and financial liabilities with a maturity of less than one year is assumed
to approximate their fair values.
The Group does not anticipate that the carrying amounts recorded at financial position date would be significantly
different from the values that would eventually be received or settled.
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:
z

Level 1 - quoted prices (adjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

z

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (ie. as prices) or indirectly (ie. derived from prices)

z

Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

The Group

Level 1
RMB’000

Level 2
RMB’000

Level 3
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

Balance as at 31 March 2010
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Equity investment
- Residential apartments

–
–

–
–

–
3,876

–
3,876

Balance as at 31 March 2009
Available-for-sale financial assets
- Equity investment
- Residential apartments

–
–

–
–

–
5,792

–
5,792
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Financial instruments (cont’d)
Fair values (cont’d)
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, unlisted equity
investments) is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each financial position date. Such instruments are
included in Level 3.
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments:

The Group

Equity
investment
RMB’000

Balance as at 1 April 2008
Transfers into Level 3
Sales of Level 3 securities
Balance as at 31 March 2009
Sales of Level 3 securities
Balance as at 31 March 2010
Total gain or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held
- for the financial year ended 31 March 2009
- for the financial year ended 31 March 2010

34

–
–
–
–
–
–

Residential
flats
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

–
7,479
(1,687)
5,792
(1,916)
3,876

–
7,479
(1,687)
5,792
(1,916)
3,876

–
–

Critical accounting estimates
Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experiences and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.
(i)

Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completed and selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical expense of selling products of “similar nature”. It could change significantly as
a result of competitors in response to severe industry’s cycles.
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Capital management
The Company’s and the Group’s objectives when managing capital are:
(a)

To safeguard the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern;

(b)

To support the Company’s and the Group’s stability and growth;

(c)

To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Company’s and the Group’s risk management
capability; and

(d)

To provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Company and the Group actively and regularly review and manage its capital structure to ensure optimal
capital structure and shareholders’ returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the
Company and the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash
flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. The Company and the
Group currently do not adopt any formal dividend policy.
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.
The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION AS AT 16 JUNE 2010
Issued and fully paid-up capital
Total Number of Shares
Class of Shares
Voting Rights
Treasury Shares

:
:
:
:
:

S$61,448,852.04
443,750,000
Ordinary Shares
One vote per ordinary share (excluding treasury shares)
Nil

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholding
1 – 999
1,000 – 10,000
10,001 – 1,000,000
1,000,001 and above

Number of
Shareholders

%

Number of
Shares

%

1
240
255
9
505

0.20
47.52
50.50
1.78
100.00

100
1,308,000
25,306,845
417,135,055
443,750,000

0.00
0.30
5.70
94.00
100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 16 JUNE 2010
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Sun Zhao Lin1
Tian Ruo Nan1
Tat Hong Holdings Ltd
Chwee Cheng & Sons Pte Ltd2
Sun & Tian Investment Pte. Ltd.

Direct Interest

%

Deemed Interest

%

–
333,000
106,265,766
–
254,714,350

–
0.08
23.95
–
57.40

254,714,350
254,714,350
–
106,265,766
–

57.40
57.40
–
23.95
–

The percentage of shareholding above is computed based on the total issued shares of 443,750,000 excluding treasury
shares.
Notes:
1.

Mr Sun Zhao Lin and Ms Tian Ruo Nan are deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company by virtue of the shares held by
Sun & Tian Investment Pte. Ltd. Mr Sun Zhao Lin and Ms Tian Ruo Nan are directors and substantial shareholders of Sun & Tian
Investment Pte. Ltd.

2.

Chwee Cheng & Sons Pte Ltd is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company by virtue of the shares held by Tat Hong
Holdings Ltd. Mr Ng San Tiong is a director and shareholder of Chwee Cheng & Sons Pte Ltd. Chwee Cheng & Sons Pte Ltd
and Mr Ng San Tiong are substantial shareholders of Tat Hong Holdings Ltd.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION AS AT 16 JUNE 2010 (CONT’D)
TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
No.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

Name of Shareholders
SUN & TIAN INVESTMENT PTE. LTD.
TAT HONG HOLDINGS LTD
CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD
2G CAPITAL PTE LTD
NG CHWEE CHENG
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD
SUN TIAN
HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD
YING SIEW KHAY
DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (S) PTE LTD
LIM HUA TIONG
SEE BENG LIAN JANICE
KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.
LIM SIOK KWEE
CHEN LAY GEOK
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD
LIM PENG CHUAN TERENCE
UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD
RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD
YAU KOK SAN

Number of Shares

%

254,714,350
106,265,766
26,615,000
10,000,000
9,664,000
3,557,198
3,115,000
1,916,000
1,287,741
934,000
880,000
850,000
822,702
800,000
750,000
713,000
700,000
668,000
667,000
579,429
425,499,186

57.40
23.95
6.00
2.25
2.18
0.80
0.70
0.43
0.29
0.21
0.20
0.19
0.19
0.18
0.17
0.16
0.16
0.15
0.15
0.13
95.89

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS
15.69% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723
of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Yongmao Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will be held
at 18 Sungei Kadut Avenue Singapore 729489 on Wednesday, 28 July 2010 at 2.00 p.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2010 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.
(Resolution 1)

2.

To declare a first and final dividend of 0.25 Singapore cent per share tax-exempt one-tier for the year ended 31
March 2010 (previous year: 0.50 Singapore cent per share).
(Resolution 2)

3.

To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 117 of the Articles of Association of
the Company:
Ms Tian Ruo Nan
Mr Chua Kee Lock
Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook

(Retiring under Article 117)
(Retiring under Article 117)
(Retiring under Article 117)

(Resolution 3)
(Resolution 4)
(Resolution 5)

[See Explanatory Note (i)]
4.

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$240,000 for the year ended 31 March 2010 (previous year:
S$268,000).
(Resolution 6)

5.

To re-appoint Messrs Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the
Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration.
(Resolution 7)

6.

To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:
7.

Authority to issue shares up to 50 per centum (50%) of the issued shares in the capital of the Company and
Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:
(a)

(b)

(i)

issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii)

make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require
shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments
to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares, at any time and
upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the
Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in
pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was in
force, provided that:
(1)

the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments,
made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) and Instruments to be issued pursuant to this
Resolution shall not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph
(2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares and Instruments to be issued other than on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%)
of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as
calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);
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(2)

(subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares and Instruments that may
be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of issued shares and Instruments shall be
based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company
at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:
(a)

new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible
securities;

(b)

new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding and
subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and

(c)

any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3)

in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the
provisions of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the time
being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited) and the Articles of Association of the Company; and

(4)

unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force
(i) until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or
(ii) in the case of shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to
this Resolution, until the issuance of such shares in accordance with the terms of the Instruments.

[See Explanatory Note (ii)]
8.

(Resolution 8)

Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
That for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited:
(a)

approval be given for the renewal of the mandate for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated
companies or any of them to enter into any of the transactions falling within the categories of Interested
Person Transactions as set out in the Appendix to the Annual Report dated 9 July 2010 (the “Appendix”)
with any party who is of the class of Interested Persons described in the Appendix, provided that such
transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the review procedures
of the Company for such Interested Person Transactions as set out in the Appendix (the “Shareholders’
Mandate”);

(b)

the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier; and

(c)

authority be given to the Directors of the Company to complete and do all such acts and things (including
executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider necessary, desirable or expedient
to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate as they may think fit.

[See Explanatory Note (iii)]

By Order of the Board

Chew Kok Liang
Company Secretary
Singapore, 9 July 2010

(Resolution 9)
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Explanatory Notes:
(i)

Mr Chua Kee Lock will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a
member of the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee respectively and will be considered independent.
Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Nominating Committee, a
member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee respectively and will be considered independent.

(ii)

The Ordinary Resolution 8 in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this Meeting
until the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is
the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such instruments,
up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the
Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.
For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares in the capital of the
Company will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company
at the time this Ordinary Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the
Instruments or any convertible securities, the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at
the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

(iii)

The Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will authorise the Interested Person Transactions as described
in the Appendix to the Annual Report and recurring in the year and will empower the Directors of the Company to do all acts
necessary to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate. This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied by the Company
in a general meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

Notes:
1.

A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and
vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

2.

The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 18 Sungei Kadut Avenue
Singapore 729489 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.
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SUMMARY SHEET FOR RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

1.

INTRODUCTION
Yongmao Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is seeking approval from the Shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting (“AGM”) to be held on 28 July 2010 for the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate to authorise the
Group to enter into various Interested Person Transactions in compliance with Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”).

2.

GENERAL
We anticipate that our Group would, in the ordinary course of business, enters into transactions with persons who
are considered “Interested Persons” as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST. It is likely that such
transactions will occur with some degree of frequency and could arise at any time, and from time to time. Such
transactions include, but are not limited to, the categories of transactions described below.
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST applies to transactions entered or to be entered into by an entity at risk
with a party that is an interested person of the listed company. Save for transactions which are excluded under
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST, an immediate announcement and (if applicable) shareholders’ approval
would be required in respect of a transaction with interested persons (“interested person transaction”) if the value
of that transaction is equal to or exceeds certain financial thresholds.
Under the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual:(a)

an “entity at risk” means:
(i)

the listed company;

(ii)

a subsidiary of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange; or

(iii)

an associated company of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved
exchange, provided that the listed company and/or its subsidiaries (the “listed group”), or the listed
group and its interested person(s), has control over the associated company;

(b)

an “interested person” means a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder of the listed
company or an associate of such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder;

(c)

an “associate” means:in relation to an interested person who is a director, chief executive officer, substantial or controlling
shareholder includes:-

(d)

(i)

an immediate family member (that is, the spouse, child, adopted-child, step-child, sibling and
parent) of such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder;

(ii)

the trustees of any trust of which the director or his immediate family, the chief executive officer or
his immediate family or controlling shareholder or his immediate family is a beneficiary or, in the case
of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary object;

(iii)

any company in which the director and his immediate family, the chief executive officer and his
immediate family or controlling shareholder and his immediate family has an aggregate interest
(directly or indirectly) of 30% or more; and

(iv)

where a substantial shareholder or a controlling shareholder which is a corporation, its subsidiary
or holding company or fellow subsidiary or a company in which it and/or they have (directly or
indirectly) an interest of 30% or more;

An “associated company” means a company in which at least 20% but not more than 50% of its shares are
held by the listed company or the group;
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(e)

An “approved exchange” means a stock exchange that has rules which safeguard the interests of
shareholders against interested person transactions according to similar principles to Chapter 9;

(f)

A “controlling shareholder” means a person who holds (directly or indirectly) 15% or more of the nominal
amount of all voting shares in the listed company or one who in fact exercises control over the listed
company; and

(g)

An “interested person transaction” means a transaction between an entity at risk and an interested person.

Pursuant to Rule 920(2) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST, our Company may treat a general mandate as having
been obtained from our Shareholders (“Shareholders’ Mandate”) for us to enter into certain categories of
interested person transactions with the classes of interested person set out below, if the information required by
Rule 920(1)(b) is included in the Prospectus. Rule 920(1)(b) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST requires the following
information to be disclosed:
(i)

the class of interested persons with which the entity at risk will be transacting;

(ii)

the nature of the transactions contemplated under the mandate;

(iii)

the rationale for, and benefit to, the entity at risk;

(iv)

the methods or procedures for determining transaction prices;

(v)

an independent financial adviser’s opinion on whether the methods or procedures in (iv) are sufficient to
ensure that the transactions will be carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to
the interests of the listed company and its minority shareholders;

(vi)

an opinion from the audit committee if it takes a different view to the independent financial adviser;

(vii)

a statement from the issuer that it will obtain a fresh mandate from shareholders if the methods or
procedures in (iv) become inappropriate; and

(viii)

a statement that the interested person will abstain, and has undertaken to ensure that its associates will
abstain, from voting on the resolution approving the transaction.

The Shareholders’ Mandate will be effective from the date of the passing of the resolution to be proposed at the
AGM and will continue to be in force until the next AGM. We will seek the approval of our Shareholders for a
renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate at each subsequent AGM of our Company.
In accordance with Rule 920(1)(b)(viii) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST, interested persons will abstain, and have
undertaken to ensure that their associates will abstain from voting on resolutions approving interested person
transactions involving themselves and the Group. Furthermore, such interested persons shall not act as proxies in
relation to such resolutions unless voting instructions have been given by shareholders who are unrelated to such
interested persons or their associates.
Rule 905 and Rule 906 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST do not apply to any transaction which has a value that
is below S$100,000 with an interested person and therefore transactions below S$100,000 need not be covered
under the Shareholders’ Mandate.

3.

CLASSES OF INTERESTED PERSONS
The Shareholders’ Mandate will apply to transactions between our Group and the following persons (“Interested
Persons”):
(a)

Mr Sun Zhao Lin, Ms Tian Ruo Nan and Mr Sun Tian (the “Sun Family Members”) and their associates
(other than our Company), including Fushun Yongmao Industry and Trade Co., Ltd (“FYIT”) and their
respective subsidiaries or associated companies, if any; and

(b)

Tat Hong Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries and associated companies (the “Tat Hong Group”).
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Transactions with interested persons that do not fall within the ambit of the Shareholders’ Mandate shall be subject
to the provisions of Chapter 9 and/or any other applicable provisions of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST.

4.

CATEGORIES OF INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The following transactions (the value of which is S$100,000 or more) with the Interested Persons (the “Interested
Person Transactions”) are in connection with the provision to, or the obtaining from, these Interested Persons of
products and services which are recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature or which are necessary for
the day-to-day operations of our Group:

5.

(i)

the sale of products (including the sale of towercranes and towercrane accessories to companies within the
Tat Hong Group) and the provision of services; and

(ii)

the purchase of products and services (including the purchases of consumables from FYIT).

RATIONALE FOR AND BENEFITS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE
In view of the time-sensitive nature of commercial transactions, it would be advantageous to the Company to
obtain the Shareholders’ Mandate to enter into the Interested Person Transactions, provided that all such
transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms. The Shareholders’ Mandate (if approved and renewed
on an annual basis) will eliminate, among others, the need for the Company to convene separate general meetings
on each occasion to seek Shareholders’ approval as and when potential transactions with interested persons
arise. This will reduce substantially the administrative time, inconvenience and expenses associated with the
convening of such meetings, without compromising its corporate objectives and adversely affecting its business
opportunities.
The Interested Person Transactions are entered into or, are to be entered into, by our Group in the ordinary course
of business. They are recurring transactions which are likely to occur with some degree of frequency and arise at
any time and from time to time.
The Directors are of the view that it will be beneficial to our Group to transact or continue to transact with the
Interested Persons after the listing of our Company on the SGX-ST. Disclosure will be made where required
under the prevailing listing rules, in our Company’s annual report and financial results on the aggregate value of
Interested Person Transactions conducted pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate during the current financial year,
and in the annual reports for the subsequent financial years during which the Shareholders’ Mandate is in force.

6.

GUIDELINES AND REVIEW PROCEDURES FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The Audit Committee has reviewed and approved the following internal control procedures that will apply to
Interested Person Transactions. These procedures are implemented with a view to ensuring that Interested Person
Transactions are undertaken on normal commercial terms and/or on an arm’s length basis; that is, the transactions
are transacted on terms not more favourable to the Interested Persons than if they were transacted with an
unrelated third party, and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and the minority Shareholders.
Our Company shall monitor transactions with Interested Persons entered into by our Group and categorise these
transactions as follows:
(a)

any transaction, whose value is less than 3% of the latest audited net tangible assets of our Group will be
reviewed and approved by a non-interested Executive Director. In the event that all the Executive Directors
have an interest, whether directly or indirectly, in the transaction, it will be reviewed and approved by a noninterested and Non-Executive Director; and

(b)

any transaction, whose value is equal to or exceeds 3% of the latest audited net tangible assets of our
Group will be reviewed and approved by at least one member of our Audit Committee.
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For the purpose of the above review, where applicable, when supplying products or services to an Interested
Person, the sale price or fee, and the terms, of at least two successful sales or supplies of a similar nature to nonInterested Persons within the last three months will be used for comparison. The sale price or fee for the supply
of goods or services shall not be lower than the lowest sale price or fee of such other transaction(s) (of a similar
nature) with non-Interested Persons.
Similarly, where applicable, when purchasing items from or engaging the services of an Interested Person, at least
two successful purchases or quotations for the purchase or provision of same or similar items or services from
non-Interested Persons within the last three months will be used (where available) for comparison. The purchase
price or fee shall not be higher than the most competitive price, fee or quote of such other transaction(s) (of a
similar nature) with non-Interested Persons. In determining the most competitive price or fee, non-price factors,
including but not limited to quality, delivery time, and track record will be taken into account.
In the event that it is not possible for appropriate information (for comparative purposes) to be obtained, a Director
(with no interest, direct or indirect, in the Interested Person Transaction) will determine whether the price, fees and/
or the other terms offered by or to the Interested Persons are fair and reasonable, and approve such Interested
Person Transaction. In so determining, such Director will consider whether the price, fees and/or other terms is
in accordance with usual business practices and pricing policies and consistent with the usual margins and/or
terms to be obtained for the same or substantially similar types of transactions to determine whether the relevant
transaction is undertaken at an arm’s length and on normal commercial terms.
For all on-going and future Interested Person Transactions in respect of the renting of properties, appropriate steps
will be taken with a view to ensuring that the rent is commensurate with the prevailing market rates, including
adopting measures such as making enquiries with landlords of similar property and obtaining necessary reports
or reviews published by property agents (including an independent valuation report by a property valuer, where
considered appropriate). The amount payable shall be based on the most competitive market rental rate of similar
property in terms of size and location, based on the results of the relevant enquiries.
The Company will maintain a register of Interested Persons. This register will be updated regularly and will be sent
to the Financial Controller of our Group. The purpose of this register is to enable the Financial Controller to identify
the Interested Persons so as to facilitate the recording of all Interested Person Transactions excluding those below
S$100,000.
The Company will also maintain a register of transactions carried out with Interested Persons including those
pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate (recording the basis, including the quotations obtained to support such
basis, on which they were entered into). This register of transactions shall be reviewed by the Audit Committee on
a quarterly basis.
In addition, our Group’s internal audit plan will incorporate a review of the transactions entered into in the relevant
financial year pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate. The internal auditor, if any, shall be required to review such
transactions and report directly to the Audit Committee on them. In the event that the Company does not have any
internal auditor, the Company’s external auditor will be required to review such transactions and report directly to
the Audit Committee. Such internal audit plan is subject to the approval of the Audit Committee and the Board.
In the event that our Chief Executive Officer, a member of the Board or a member of the Audit Committee (where
applicable) is interested in any Interested Person Transaction, he/she will abstain from any decision making by the
Audit Committee or the Board in respect of that transaction.
If during the quarterly reviews, the Audit Committee is of the view that the internal control procedures as stated
above are not sufficient to ensure that the Interested Person Transactions will be conducted on normal commercial
terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and the minority Shareholders, the Company
will obtain a fresh mandate from Shareholders based on new guidelines and review procedures with interested
persons. All Interested Person Transactions shall be reviewed and approved by at least one member of the Audit
Committee prior to entry while a fresh mandate is being sought from Shareholders. In the event that a member
of the Audit Committee is interested in any of the Interested Person Transactions, that member will abstain from
reviewing that particular transaction.
The Audit Committee will also review transactions with interested persons on a quarterly basis with a view to
ensuring that the prevailing rules of the SGX-ST (in particular, Chapter 9) are complied with. Our Audit Committee
and our Board shall have the overall responsibility for the determination of the review procedures with the authority
to sub-delegate to individuals or committees within the Group as they deem appropriate.
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7.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S STATEMENT
The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the terms of the Shareholders’ Mandate. Having considered,
inter alia, the categories, rationale and benefits, and guidelines on review procedures for the Interested Person
Transactions, the Audit Committee confirms that (i) the review procedures for determining the prices of Interested
Person Transactions have not changed since approval for the Shareholders’ Mandate was last given; and (ii)
the review procedures set out in the Shareholders’ Mandate are sufficient to ensure that the Interested Person
Transactions are on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and
its minority shareholders. However, should the Audit Committee subsequently find that the existing procedures
require material changes and are no longer relevant the Audit Committee will recommend to the Board that a
Shareholders’ meeting be convened for Shareholders’ approval in respect of a fresh mandate.

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
The interests of the Directors and Substantial Shareholders of the Company in the issued share capital of the
Company as at 16 June 2010 are set out below:-

Director
Sun Zhao Lin
Tian Ruo Nan
Ng San Tiong
Sun Tian
Hoon Chee Wai
Chua Kee Lock
Ho Chew Thim
Steve Lai Mun Fook
Sun & Tian Investment Pte. Ltd.
Tat Hong Holdings Ltd
Chwee Cheng & Sons Pte Ltd

Number of Shares
Direct Interest
%
–
333,000
–
3,115,000
–
–
–
–
254,714,350
106,265,766
–

–
0.08
–
0.70
–
–
–
–
57.40
23.95
–

Number of Shares
Deemed Interest
%
254,714,350
254,714,350
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
106,265,766

57.40
57.40
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
23.95

Note:

9.

1.

Mr Sun Zhao Lin and Ms Tian Ruo Nan are deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company by virtue of the
shares held by Sun & Tian Investment Pte. Ltd. Mr Sun Zhao Lin and Ms Tian Ruo Nan are directors and substantial
shareholders of Sun & Tian Investment Pte. Ltd.

2.

Mr Sun Tian is the son of Mr Sun Zhao Lin and Ms Tian Ruo Nan.

3.

Chwee Cheng & Sons Pte Ltd is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company by virtue of the shares held by
Tat Hong Holdings Ltd. Mr Ng San Tiong is a director and shareholder of Chwee Cheng & Sons Pte Ltd. Chwee Cheng &
Sons Pte Ltd and Mr Ng San Tiong are substantial shareholders of Tat Hong Holdings Ltd.

ABESENTION FROM VOTING
(i)

Mr Sun Zhao Lin, Ms Tian Ruo Nan, Mr Sun Tian and Tat Hong Holdings Ltd, and their respective
associates, being the Interested Persons will abstain from voting on the Resolution 9.

(ii)

Messrs Ng San Tiong who hold directorship and executive position in Tat Hong Group, and their respective
associates will abstain from voting on the Resolution 9.
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10.

DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION
The Directors who are considered independent for the purposes of the proposed renewal of the Shareholders
Mandate are Mr Chua Kee Lock, Mr Ho Chew Thim and Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook and Mr Hoon Chee Wai (the
“Independent Directors”). The Independent Directors are of the opinion that the entry into the Interested Person
Transactions by our Group in the ordinary course of its business will enhance the efficiency of our Group and are
in the best interests of our Company.
For the reasons set out in paragraph 5 of the Appendix, the Independent Directors recommend that Shareholders
vote in favour of Resolution 9, being the Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’
Mandate at this AGM.

11.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The Directors collectively and individually accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information given herein
and confirm; having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts stated
and the opinions expressed herein are fair and accurate and that there are no material facts the omission of which
would make any statement herein misleading.

12.

ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY SHAREHOLDERS
If a Shareholder is unable to attend the AGM and wishes to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on his behalf, he
should complete, sign and return the attached Proxy Form in accordance with the instructions printed thereon
as soon as possible and, in any event, so as to reach the registered office of the Company at 18 Sungei Kadut
Avenue Singapore 729489 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the AGM. Completion and return
of the Proxy Form by a Shareholder will not prevent him from attending and voting at the AGM if he so wishes.

13.

SGX-ST
The SGX-ST takes no responsibility for the accuracy of any statements or opinions made in this Appendix.

YONGMAO HOLDINGS LIMITED
[Company Registration No. 200510649K]
(Incorporated In The Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT:
1.

For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Yongmao Holdings
Limited’s shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the request of the
CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.

This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by
them.

3.

CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must
submit their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the
time frame specified. If they also wish to vote, they must submit their
voting instructions to the CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame
specified to enable them to vote on their behalf.

I/We,
of
being a member/members of Yongmao Holdings Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:
Name

NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares

%

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name

NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares

%

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/
proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held at
18 Sungei Kadut Avenue Singapore 729489 on Wednesday, 28 July 2010 at 2.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/
We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If
no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment
thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. The authority herein includes the right to
demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.
(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [9] within the box provided.)
No.

Resolutions relating to:

For

1

Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2010

2

Payment of proposed first & final dividend

3

Re-election of Ms Tian Ruo Nan as a Director

4

Re-election of Mr Chua Kee Lock as a Director

5

Re-election of Dr Steve Lai Mun Fook as a Director

6

Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$240,000

7

Re-appointment of Messrs Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton LLP as Auditors

8

Authority to issue new shares

9

Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

Dated this

day of

2010
Total number of Shares in:
(a) CDP Register
(b) Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

Against

No. of Shares

Notes :
1.

Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as
defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have
Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered
against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert
the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register
of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares
held by you.

2.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to
attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.

Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each
proxy. If no such proportion or number is specified the first named proxy may be treated as representing one hundred per cent
(100%) of the shareholding and any subsequent named proxy as an alternate to the first named.

4.

Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the Meeting.
Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, and in such
event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the
Meeting.

5.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 18 Sungei Kadut
Avenue Singapore 729489 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

6.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or
under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by
an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the
instrument.

7.

A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit
to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:
The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible,
or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument
appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his
name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository
(Pte) Limited to the Company.
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